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About this report  
This report covers the activities of the Queensland Audit Office for the reporting period from 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020.  

It provides a comprehensive view of how we operate to create value, reporting against our published strategy and performance 
measures. 

The general purpose financial statements within this report were prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations, the Treasurer’s minimum reporting requirements, and other authoritative pronouncements. 

The report is available online at: www.qao.qld.gov.au/about-us/our-business-annual-report   

Accessibility 
We are committed to providing accessible services to Queenslanders from all culturally and linguistically diverse 
backgrounds. If you have difficulty understanding this report, you can contact us on (07) 3149 6000 and we will 
arrange an interpreter to effectively communicate the report to you.  

 

24 August 2020 
 
The Honourable A Palaszczuk MP 
Premier and Minister for Trade 
Level 40 
1 William Street 
BRISBANE  QLD  4000 
 
Dear Premier 

Queensland Audit Office annual report 2019–20 

I am pleased to present the Annual report 2019–20 for the Queensland Audit Office. 

I certify that this annual report complies with: 

• the prescribed requirements of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the Financial and Performance 
Management Standard 2019 

• the detailed requirements set out in the Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies. 

A checklist outlining the annual report requirements can be found at Appendix D of the report. 

Yours sincerely, 
 

 

Brendan Worrall 
Auditor-General 
 

Further information  
As required by the Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies, further information is published online 
through the government open data website https://data.qld.gov.au related to the following: 

• consultancies 
• overseas travel 
• Queensland Language Services Policy 
• government bodies.                     
 
T:   (07) 3149 6000 
M:  qao@qao.qld.gov.au 
W:  qao.qld.gov.au  
53 Albert Street, Brisbane Qld 4000 
PO Box 15396, City East Qld 4002 
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Auditor-General’s foreword 
It has been a year marked by change. The Queensland Audit Office and wider state and local 
government entities tackled the challenges of delivering their services during a period of new or 
emerging risk. They faced more complex community service needs, and continued pressure on the 
efficient use of resources.  

The next few years will see Queensland work through the implications of COVID-19 on public spending 
and service delivery. The exact impact for government is difficult to know at this stage but the 
Queensland Audit Office (QAO) will need to share the insights we find from our audit work to effectively 
support the state’s recovery.  

Throughout 2019–20, the oversight provided by independent offices was more essential than ever. Our 
role of providing trusted and valued assurance did not change, but the way we did our work evolved. 
We ensured our client relationships remained a priority as we engaged a little differently and strove to 
understand the challenges entities were facing. We gave our clients specific COVID-related advice 
during our audits, within our reports, and through our blog. Throughout this annual report, I provide 
information on how we supported our people, parliament, and clients during the pandemic.  

We delivered 16 reports to parliament, in which overall we made 79 recommendations. We also made 
over 800 recommendations directly to clients during our audits. Fewer reports compared to last year 
reflects the agility we took to our audit program, where we delayed some reports in response to the 
COVID-19 pressures our clients were facing.  

At the heart of our work is driving positive change in the way public services are delivered to help 
improve the lives of Queenslanders. We are always looking to maximise the impact we have. 
Parliament improves legislation and frameworks; but performance and process improvements come 
from entities themselves. We remained committed to building our clients’ trust in us, so they are more 
likely to hear and accept our advice, and act on our recommendations.  

We have been working on how we can best engage with parliament. We developed new types of 
reports to parliament that range in depth but provide our insights more quickly, the first of which will 
table in 2020֪–21. We also engaged 500-plus councillors following the March 2020 election, offering 
information on how we can support them. We plan to do the same with members of parliament after the 
state election in October 2020.  

Our performance is not possible without the expertise, passion, and commitment of our workforce. To 
my people and our audit service providers—thank you for your hard work. You faced trying times with 
tenacity and I am proud of what you achieved.   

When our workforce operates as one team, we can offer richer, more consistent, and efficient services. 
Implementing our new operating model meant we got better at integrating our services, providing more 
strategic oversight of our work, and giving our staff more opportunities to develop.  

We prioritised audit quality and continued to strive for the highest professional standards. Expectations 
of quality in today’s audit environment is indeed increasing, and our revised approaches harness the 
positive developments in audit practice. 

Our ability to mobilise our workforce via secure systems during COVID-19 was a great achievement. 
Throughout the year, I continued to hold over 100 meetings with clients across Queensland. These 
relationships are important to us. We now need to get back to working at our clients’ sites in-person.  

On 27 September 2020, we celebrate 160 years of service to Queensland. Over the years, QAO has 
supported entities through a range of difficult times and resultant recovery periods. I anticipate a 
demanding year ahead for Queenslanders; but QAO and I will be there to support you.  

Brendan Worrall, 
Auditor-General 

• •• • 
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About the Queensland Audit Office  

Our role • We are Queensland’s independent auditor of state and local government 
public sector entities, as established under the Auditor-General Act 2009. 

The Auditor-General is fully independent, appointed by the Queensland 
Governor in Council for a seven-year term. The parliamentary Economics and 
Governance Committee provides oversight of the Auditor-General and the 
office. 

Our work • Our vision is for better public services. To achieve this, we: 

• provide professional audit services, which include our audit opinions on the 
accuracy and reliability of the financial statements of public sector entities 
and local governments 

• provide entities with insights on their financial performance, risk, and 
internal controls; and on the efficiency, effectiveness, or economy of public 
service delivery 

• produce reports to parliament on the results of our audit work, our insights 
and advice, and recommendations for improvement 

• conduct investigations about financial waste and mismanagement raised by 
elected members, state and local government employees, and the public 

• share the wider learnings and best practice, from our work, with state and 
local government entities, and our professional networks, industry, and 
peers. 

Outcomes 
from our 

work 

• The outcomes from our work include: 

• improving financial management and reporting 

• maintaining confidence in accountability, transparency, and reporting  

• supporting Queenslanders by providing recommendations to our clients on 
how they can improve their delivery of public services  

• giving parliament independent assurance over public sector performance. 

Our clients are Queensland’s state and local 
government entities, located far and wide across 
our beautiful state.  

The Queensland Parliament is our client as we 
provide it with independent assurance.  

 
 

Location of QAO’s audit clients 
 
 

• • •• 
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Our people and culture  
Our greatest asset will always be our people. Their skills and commitment are vital to our ability to 
deliver our vision of better public services.  

Celebrating our diverse and valued team 
Our workforce comprises 190 full-time equivalents, who are a mix of auditors, specialists, and support 
team members. This year, 19 audit service providers joined our team to perform 44 per cent of our 
audits, supporting us across Queensland.  

At QAO, we respect individuals and appreciate the immense 
value our different backgrounds, experiences, and talents 
bring to our workforce. Many come from non-English speaking 
backgrounds; 26.8 per cent. Fifty-four per cent are women—
including 31 per cent of directors and above and a third of our 
executive management group. We also represent a wide 
range of age demographics.  

We are committed to creating a positive environment that 
ensures all people feel like they belong.  

Implementing our new operating model 
This year, we started implementing QAO’s new operating model in line with our strategic workforce 
plan. Our new model ensures we are providing valuable services for our clients now and into the future, 
and it anticipates inevitable transformations in our internal and external environments.  

Our new approach enables us to share our insights more seamlessly as one business. It means we 
can better develop our workforce and offer our people more varied experiences. Importantly, our new 
way of working includes our audit service providers, who are critical to our service delivery.  

QAO’s new operating model 

 
  

On International Women’s Day, 8 March, 
we committed to #eachforequal. We 
remembered the history of women’s rights 
at the audit office, including our first female 
auditor, Doreen Martin in 1969; our first 
female audit manager, Debra Stolz, in 
1997; and first female executive leader, 
Jenny England, in 1994. Our first female 
Assistant Auditor-General was 
Terry Campbell in 2004. 

 

 

• •• 

Parliamentary services 

Patnck Flemming 

Purpose: Independent valued assurance and insights 

Auditor-General 

Brendan Worrall 

Assistant Auditors-General 

Client service delivery 

Approach: Think and Act OneQAO 

Outcome: Value creation and trust 

Audit practice• 

Karen Johnson 

*Deputy Auditor-General as required 

• 
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Think and Act OneQAO 
The overarching tenet for our operating model is ‘Think and Act OneQAO’. Think and Act OneQAO 
focuses us on our vision, and is led by three guiding themes:  

• building capability—developing infrastructure and staffing arrangements that support new ways of 
working and maximise the benefits of shared resourcing 

• relationships—ensuring QAO’s future success by improving the quality of our relationships with our 
clients, stakeholders, and colleagues 

• being valued—contributing to better public services by enriching our clients’ experiences and 
integrating our services and insights.  

In line with these themes, this year we:  

• reorganised our structure to provide strategic leadership over all our client services and reduce 
inflexible hierarchy  

• changed how we resource our services to operate more efficiently and distribute our expertise 
across our teams 

• updated some of our methodologies to cater for the changing audit environment  

• refreshed our values so they resonate externally as well as internally. 

The new way of working was—and continues to be—a big change for many. It is important that staff 
feel valued and respected during the change process. The Executive Management Group (EMG) held 
QAO-wide briefings, and we developed an intranet microsite to house information for staff. Project 
champions regularly shared updates across the business, and we set up an ‘Ask the AG’ inbox where 
staff could send their questions or feedback. 

Refreshing our values  
We promote an organisational culture based on looking after our relationships—internally with our 
people, and externally with our clients and stakeholders.  

Our culture is articulated by our four core values, which set our expectations for behaviour. We 
regularly reflect on our culture and ensure our staff are living our values. 

 
• • Collaborating to achieve shared outcomes 

• Listening to understand, and communicating clearly and openly 
• Being balanced, objective and purposeful  

 
• • Appreciating and caring for others 

• Sharing our knowledge and skills 
• Recognising achievement 

 

• • Seeking and sharing better ways of doing things 
• Embracing innovation and being progressive 
• Encouraging and motivating others 

 

• • Taking responsibility and being accountable 
• Ensuring our work is quality driven and acting with integrity 
• Being action oriented and achieving results  

 

• 

..... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
....... ... . . . . ....... . . . : : :·:···: ........ : .... : .. : . . .......... 

Engage 

Respect 

Inspire 

Deliver 

• •• 
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This year, QAO revisited its values to check that they were accurately representing who we are and our 
direction as one team. We changed two of our values to reflect more of an external perspective as well 
as internal. We replaced ‘challenge’ with ‘inspire’ and broadened ‘care’ to ‘respect.’  

All QAO staff were involved in the refresh, providing feedback and voting for the final selection. Overall, 
staff were passionate about the project, which we believe shows a great sense of ownership of our 
values.  

Recognising our staff   
Recognising performance is an important part of living our values and key to growing our culture. As 
part of the refresh of our values, we started designing some new and exciting ways to show 
appreciation for our team members. Next year, we will launch a ‘recognition portal’ in our intranet and 
revamp our annual, pinnacle staff award to time with QAO’s 160th birthday in September 2020.   

Investing in our people  
Developing our people is fundamental to their work satisfaction and to our service delivery and culture. 
Our strategy for developing our capability entails a mix of professional training and in-house, bespoke 
training, as well as specialised courses attended by individuals.  

This year, we provided our audit workforce with an average of 61.8 hours of professional development 
per person, not including the hours provided by mentors for our graduates. Along with technical 
training, we gave our staff opportunities to develop higher 
capability in client engagement, leadership, and people 
management. 

Our senior managers attended training on how effective 
governance helps shape organisational culture. This will 
enable our staff to identify any risks our clients may have 
around their culture—and the behaviours that lead to these 
risks—so that we design our audits to address them.  

As a recognised CPA Australia employer, we continued to 
provide an optimal learning environment and give our staff 
opportunities to attain professional development hours that are 
recognised by CPA.  
 
Of our training and development this year, one of our audit seniors, Jodie L, said:  

‘Being new to QAO I found the training week a great way to interact with people who I don’t get to work 
with on an everyday basis. The facilitators and participants all adapted really well to training virtually 
and the technology that we have access to is excellent.’ Jodie L, June 2020.  

Next year, QAO will explore sharing our training courses and materials with our audit service providers.  

Recruiting great teams  
Attracting and retaining the right people will position us well for the future of work. We know that many 
of the skills we are seeking are in high demand across both the public and private sectors.  

We appointed seven graduates for 2020, and they joined us between October 2019 and early 2020. 
During COVID-19, we gave each newcomer specialised support to ensure their learning continued 
when working remotely. When restrictions lifted, we prioritised bringing graduates and their ‘buddies’ 
back into the office to give them the earliest opportunity for in-person connection. QAO’s buddy system 
provides a network of experienced mentors to support our graduates. One of our graduate auditors 
said:  

Our commitment to providing high 
quality professional development 
and training continued successfully 
during COVID-19.  

We successfully transitioned our 
traditional face-to-face training to 
the virtual environment through live 
streams and online small group 
workshops. 

 

• •• • 
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‘Mentors are always willing to lend a hand. The guidance 
and constructive feedback provided through the buddy 
system in particular is invaluable. Graduates are 
encouraged to provide their own input, which enhances 
their confidence to do the same in future audits tenfold. My 
knowledge of auditing has grown substantially through the 
buddy system’s collaborative team environment, and 
emphasis on encouragement. I look forward to providing 
the same guidance to future graduates.’ Nick J, June 2020. 

Another said:  

‘QAO has met the challenge of the changing world. I have worked on meaningful projects as QAO 
responded to disruption and supports its clients. As I started at QAO in February, I was a little worried 
about how I would go working without the face-to-face contact from my team. However, it has been 
easy, and I couldn’t have felt more supported.’ Eva D, May 2020.  

This year, a candidate from the QUT Accountancy Work placement program also joined us, and we 
engaged three interns; one in internal systems audit and one in audit analytics.  

Looking after our peoples’ wellbeing  
We worked hard to improve how we support and engage our workforce. The COVID-19 period was a 
tough time for many, and we needed to keep our team safe, and feeling connected and purposeful.  

More than ever, we were able to offer a more flexible working environment, redefine how we do our 
work, and leverage our modern technology systems. We believe our new operating model and our 
recent shift to activity-based working enabled a seamless transition to a COVID-19 working 
environment, and sound staff engagement.  

As soon as COVID-19 appeared on the horizon, we immediately communicated with our workforce on 
how QAO was going to respond, how we would look after them, and how we would do our work. We 
provided: 

• daily, and then weekly, emails from the Auditor-General to all staff 

• regular live streams or video updates from the Auditor-General 

• virtual meetings where we shared information and discussed concerns 

• a microsite within our intranet that housed frequently asked questions, Queensland Health advice, 
copies of correspondence, information technology guides, tips on ergonomics, and importantly, 
resources from the Employee Assistance Program (EAP). 

We made a lot of effort to encourage staff to stay in touch during COVID-19, including keeping a sense 
of fun, for example by using Yammer for weekly competitions. 

More generally throughout the year, our wellbeing initiatives included providing flu vaccinations (via 
voucher when COVID-19 commenced), and we got behind ‘RU OK?’ day.   

Our workplace health and safety committee raised issues relating to the health, safety, and wellbeing 
of our staff, and managed our practices or policies in response. The committee met five times this year.  

As at 30 June, QAO staff had started returning to our physical office location at 53 Albert Street and to 
some client sites. We remain focused on delivering our audit and engagement services in a timely and 
effective manner, while bringing our staff back in a safe and organised manner. 

Staff feedback on QAO’s response to COVID-19 
Sourcing feedback from our staff during COVID-19 ensured we were providing them with the right 
support and the right information. We conducted several anonymous surveys that helped us respond to 
staff needs and prepare our return to office strategy.   

The results of our last major survey for the financial year were strong.  

We engage Queensland’s tertiary 
institutions that are growing our future 
generations of auditors. 

QAO is pleased to sponsor QUT 
Business School’s Academic Year 
awards, by each year recognising the 
student who achieved the best overall 
performance in Audit and Assurance 
in the Master of Business 
(Professional Accounting). 

 

 

• • •• 
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Ninety per cent of managers agreed their teams were equally or more productive working remotely. 
Ninety-three per cent said they felt equally or more connected to the executive management group. 
However, only 69 per cent said they felt equally or more connected to their colleagues, with free text 
comments indicating they were missing in-person or ad hoc connections. We were also concerned 
about some early indications that innovation and brainstorming were not as strong when staff are 
working remotely.  

Of our communications effort, a staff member said:  

‘I really appreciate the effort that has gone into communicating with us. When it was first happening, 
the daily emails were reassuring and provided sufficient information, so I felt I was in the loop, I’ve also 
had directors who have been very understanding about my circumstances.’  

Another said:  

‘QAO has been doing very well during this time and I’m grateful for how the office has been able to 
continue its business. Thank you.’  

As of 30 June, QAO continues to source staff feedback as we return to the office and our client sites.  

Protecting human rights  
This year, the Human Rights Act 2019 (the Act) came into effect. The Act protects the rights of every 
person in Queensland when they interact with government or any entities doing work for government. It 
puts people first by making sure that the public sector thinks about human rights when they deliver their 
services.  
QAO implemented a range of activities to ensure we deliver the requirements of the Act and that we 
embed it as an important part of our culture. We educated our staff on what it means to put human 
rights first when making decisions. We:  

• reflected the Act in our policies, for example around handling complaints 

• confirmed that our contractual conditions and arrangements with our audit service providers reflect 
the requirement to comply with all applicable laws 

• updated our staff role descriptions and job advertisements  

• implemented a communications campaign that included an interactive presentation for all staff (and 
new starters thereafter) and bulletin board posts. We also updated our intranet and external 
website.  

QAO has not received any human rights complaints. 
  

• •• • 
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Our leadership and governance  

QAO’s leadership and governance is integral to achieving our organisational objectives.  

Our organisational structure 
Implementing our new operating model involved an organisational restructure, enabling us to bring in 
new approaches and innovation. It also provides greater capacity to mentor staff, further developing 
our assurance capability.   

Our organisational structure and governance framework did not change during the COVID-19 period. 
To strengthen our response, we stood up an additional Incident Response Group consisting of 
executive leaders and subject matter experts.  

QAO’s organisational structure at 30 June 2020 

Executive leadership 
QAO’s executive management group leads the delivery of QAO’s strategy. It monitors high 
performance, drives change and innovation, and manages our core business operations. 

• Brendan Worrall, Auditor-General 

• Karen Johnson, Assistant Auditor-General (Deputy Auditor-General when required) 

• Patrick Flemming, Assistant Auditor-General  

• Poopalasingam Brahman, Assistant Auditor-General  

• Rachel Vagg, Assistant Auditor-General  

• Damon Olive, Assistant Auditor-General.  

Sector leadership 
Our services are also supported by directors who provide deep knowledge of the industries that our 
clients operate in, and share specialist technical expertise and insights.  

Our legislative framework 
The Auditor-General Act 2009 (the Act) governs the powers and functions of the Auditor-General. It 
provides the legal basis for QAO’s access to information, and the freedom to report the findings from 
our audits. The Act promotes the independence of the Auditor-General and our auditors.  

• 

Parliamentary services 
Patnck Flemming 

Whole of government 
& departments 

P Brahman 

Auditor-General 
Brendan Worrall 

Assistant Auditors-General 

GOCs& 
statutory bodies 

Rachel Vagg 

Local government 
& the regions 

Damon Ohve 

Sector Directors/Directors-Audit engagement and reports to parliament 

The QAO workforce team 

Audit practice• 
Karen Johnson 

*Deputy Auditor~General as required 

• •• 

https://www.qao.qld.gov.au/sector-directors
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It also requires us to table in parliament the standards by which we perform our audits—the 
Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing Standards. These standards require the adoption of standards 
issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards Board to the extent they are consistent 
with the requirements of the Act.  In December 2019, we updated the standards to incorporate 
recommendations made in the 2017 Strategic Review of the Queensland Audit Office, and to reflect 
changes to audit practice and associated legislation.  

Our governance bodies 

Executive management group 
This group includes all executive leaders. It determines strategy and budget, and regularly reviews 
QAO’s strategic and operating risks.  

Senior management group 
This group provides leadership for achieving the strategies outlined in QAO’s operational plans. Karen 
Johnson, as Deputy Auditor-General, was the chair in 2019-20 and the Auditor-General is a member 
by observation. The group met every eight weeks in 2019, and has since been disbanded in-line with 
QAO’s operating model.  

Audit and Risk Management Committee 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee (ARMC) is an independent advisory committee to the 
Auditor-General, comprised of three external members. Membership details are at Appendix B.  

The ARMC provides effective oversight of risk, control and compliance frameworks, and fiscal 
responsibilities underpinning our corporate governance. This year it met four times.  

In November 2019, QAO set up a new audit quality sub-committee to provide assurance to the ARMC 
that QAO’s audit activities are effective, efficient and comply with quality requirements.  

Our approach to risk management  
Over the past year we continued to review and develop our risk registers and improve our information 
management. 

We focused on data governance and information security by developing and ratifying a new Data 
governance framework. This framework guides staff on how to make informed decisions on data 
management and how to ensure those decisions are properly governed. 

We also continued to improve information security across the organisation through education and 
awareness campaigns, better controls and oversight, and a process of continuous improvement that 
internal audit backed up with ongoing oversight. We effectively deployed a new vulnerability 
assessment and management platform, and we increased our use of Information Protection systems.  

QAO continues to work with the Queensland Government Customer Digital Group cyber security unit 
as we improve our information management security system (ISMS) and work toward continuous 
independent assurance. 

Internal audit 
Internal audit conducts independent and risk-based assurance activities over our operations, aiming to 
improve the operations of QAO. It works in accordance with an annual plan and its charter aligns with 
the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. 

QAO’s internal audit function is independent of our executive leadership group. The ARMC has 
oversight of the internal audit program and delivery.  QAO engaged Protiviti to deliver its internal audit 
program; finalising five internal audits in 2019–20. 

• •• • 
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Our strategy  
Our Strategic Plan 2019–23 outlines our objectives, risks, organisational strategies, and indicators of 
achievement.  

Vision 
Better public services. 

Purpose 
Independent, valued assurance and insights. 

Who we serve 
Queenslanders, through parliament, public sector entities, and local governments. 

Approach 

Our strategic planning framework 
We revise our strategic plan annually, or as required, to 
ensure we address emerging risks and new 
opportunities.  

Our strategic plan is informed by our 
operational and workforce planning, our risk 
management framework, and our audit 
program. 

The service delivery statement provides 
budgeted financial and non-financial 
information for the financial year and 
establishes our performance targets. 

  

Objectives Strategic risks Strategies Indicators of 
achievement 

We support and 
challenge our people to 
best serve parliament 
and our clients. 

We do not uphold our 
values or professional, 
ethical, and quality 
standards. 

Supporting the Think and 
Act OneQAO workforce to 
meet parliament and our 
clients’ assurance needs. 

Our people are engaged, 
professional and capable. 

Those we serve trust and 
value our services and 
insights. 

We do not adapt our 
services in response to 
changing needs. 

Enhancing relationships. Our relationships are 
valued. 

Our assurance services 
and insights are used to 
improve accountability 
and performance. 

We do not sufficiently 
understand our clients’ 
organisations and 
context to deliver 
valuable services. 

Adapting our assurance 
services to provide greater 
value. 

Parliament and our clients 
benefit from the assurance 
services and insights we 
provide. 

QAO’s strategic planning 
framework at 30 June 2020 

• 

Governance 
framework 

Strategic 
workforce plan 

Enterprise risk 
management 

framework 

Strategic audit 
plan 

• •• 
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This year’s performance

We met our strategic objectives throughout the year and our performance was strong, despite the 
changes we made to our work in response to COVID-19. However, areas for improvement remain and 
we are committed to identifying opportunities to increase the value and efficiency of our work.  

Supporting our clients during COVID-19 
When COVID-19 challenges first arose, we immediately communicated with our clients and 
stakeholders on how QAO was going to operate, and how we would collaborate with them to reflect 
the unique challenges many of them were facing. We actively focused on maintaining our relationships 
despite reduced in-person communication and travel to audit sites.  

Our workforce continued to deliver its audit services, supported by our reliable and flexible technology 
platforms. Our ability to transfer data securely greatly assisted our clients and audit service providers, 
and enabled us to progress our remote and regional audits where some of the communities were 
locked down. To limit change and uncertainty, QAO also paused its annual procurement round for its 
audit service providers.   

When it is safe to do so, it is crucial our auditors continue to visit or work at our clients’ sites. This 
ensures we see firsthand the unique environments or contexts our clients operate in, and that we have 
sufficiently full and accurate visibility of our clients’ operations.  

Throughout the year, we continued to give our audit clients, 
parliament and the wider Queensland community confidence in 
government accountability and transparency. We identified the 
risks that our audit clients were facing, designed our audit work to 
respond to those risks, and continued to report on matters of 
significance.  

We further reflected our clients’ circumstances by ensuring we 
conducted our work at the right time, and were focusing on 
relevant, valuable audit topics given the rapid changes to service 
delivery and community needs.  

We recognised the need to give our clients specific advice on COVID-19 and published 10 blog posts 
on the matters we think our clients needed to place top of mind. Our blog covered a range of topics 
such as maintaining controls, managing cash reserves, managing volatile investments, cyber security 
risks, and financial reporting in uncertain times.  

Our clients also mentioned the value of previous blog posts, such as how to electronically approve 
documents and how to ensure strong everyday controls to prevent fraud attempts. Since its launch in 
November 2018, our blog has been viewed over 67,000 times; over 46,000 times in 2019–20.  

Delivering our audit and reporting services  
Throughout our audit program, we formed 397 audit opinions about the reliability of financial 
statements of state and local government entities. Our audit service providers delivered 173 of these 
opinions—44 per cent.  

We tabled 16 reports to parliament. Seven of these were on the combined results of individual 
financial audits, and nine contained the findings, conclusions, and recommendations from our 
performance audits. Our number of tabled reports was less than last year’s total of 21 as we paused 
some of our work during COVID-19 to prevent placing pressure on impacted entities and to ensure we 
focused our efforts where we can provide the greatest value.  

Since April 2020, five QAO 
staff members have been 
redeployed to the Queensland 
Government employee 
mobilisation service. Their 
skills were sought after, and 
we were pleased to be able to 
provide further assistance to 
agencies in need.  
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One way in which we measure the efficiency and effectiveness of our work is by tracking the full life 
cycle cost of each of our reports to parliament, and the time we take to produce them. We do not 
deliver our audits and reports as discrete services—our new operating model means we deliver 
integrated services and resource our work accordingly. However, our final deliverables vary in nature, 
so we report on the cost and timeliness of all our reports.  

This year, we delivered our financial audit reports at an average of $124,600 per report, which was 
$15,400 below our target of $140,000, and $18,204 below last year’s average cost of $142,804. We 
were more efficient because we better planned and focused our reports, so we spent less time writing 
and reviewing them. 

The average cost of our performance audits (which includes the audit work and report) was $453,878 
$58,000 over our target of $395,000, and $136,100 more than last year. This was due to the 
complexity, scope, and sensitivities of most of this year’s audit topics, meaning we needed more time 
and depth during the audit conduct stage, for engaging clients and preparing the resultant reports. The 
cost of each report to parliament is available in QAO’s performance statement on page 53.   

We measure the timeliness of our financial audit reports from our clients’ year end date to the tabling 
date of the report in parliament. This year, the average time to deliver our financial audit reports was 
5.3 months—faster than our target of six months and last year’s average of 6.5 months.  

We measure the timeliness of our performance audit reports from formal initiation of the audit to the 
tabling date. We delivered our performance audit reports on average in 10.9 months, which was 
1.3 months over our target of nine months, and longer than last year’s result of 8.9 months. All our 
reports were full performance audits this year—we did not do any follow-up audits, which typically 
have a shorter time frame and cost, reducing our averages. We also paused our audit on Evaluating 
major infrastructure projects (Report 14: 2019–20) for two months to allow entities more time to 
respond to the preliminary report.   

Despite the complexity of the audits, the value of our work remained high and many of our clients 
appreciated the time we took to consult with them.  

Making valuable recommendations for our clients   
We suggest better ways of delivering public services through our audit recommendations in our 
reports to parliament and across our audit engagements.  

In our reports to parliament, we made 79 recommendations to our clients. The recommendations 
related mostly to strengthening controls, performance measurement and reporting, fraud risk, cyber 
security, effective governance and oversight, asset management and financial sustainability, strategic 
planning, and contract management.  

We often receive interest in our recommendations from clients that were not specifically involved in the 
audit but find the recommendations and our insights to be useful. Following our report Managing coal 
seam gas activities (Report 12: 2019–20), several entities have asked us for additional detail on how 
we developed our process maps relating to regulating resource activities. We have helped entities 
where appropriate and they appreciate our support.  

During our audit work, we make key findings and immediately provide recommendations to our clients 
on what they should do to address an issue. This year, we made over 800 recommendations, of which 
around 150 were significant (high-risk matters) meaning clients acted on them immediately.  

In one example of our timely insights, during our audit testing we identified several duplicate payments 
that an entity was making. Our insights provided the entity with around $1 million in savings. We gave 
them recommendations on how they can improve their internal controls to prevent similar issues 
occurring again. 

• • •• 
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Following up entities’ implementation of our recommendations 
The primary responsibility for implementing the recommendations from our reports to parliament rests 
with the accountable officers of the entities we address our recommendations to. To measure impact 
over time, each year we identify prior year audits to follow up; however, resources have limited us to 
one–two of these follow-ups per year.  

We have started developing a new online tool that will enable entities to more efficiently and easily 
track their progress in implementing our recommendations and submit their status updates to us. This 
new approach will:  

• give entities clarity over how many of their recommendations they report as fully implemented, 
partly implemented, or not implemented 

• identify the recommendations we have made more broadly across government, which may be 
applicable or valuable to them  

• provide parliamentary committees with an efficient way to oversee the status of recommendations 

• provide an efficient and effective means for QAO to track the value of our work, select areas to 
further focus our future follow-up or audit work on, and, overall, provide greater assurance.  

We will pilot this new approach and tool with some entities when the timing is right, given COVID-19.  
When appropriate, we will table a new report to parliament collating entities’ self-reported progress on 
implementing our recommendations.  

Assisting and engaging with parliament  
QAO’s new operating model provides for more focused and strategic leadership over our 
parliamentary services. The new approach aims to strengthen QAO’s relationship with parliament, 
specifically the Economics and Governance Committee (EGC), other portfolio committees, and 
individual members of parliament.  

We continue to seek ways to give parliament timely insights and engage in ways that best suit their 
needs. QAO’s relationship with parliament is imperative for us achieving our vision of better public 
services. By ensuring we meet parliament’s needs, we better meet the needs of the public.  

This year, QAO gave seven briefings to parliamentary committees, covering 12 of our reports to 
parliament. Our briefings provide an overview of our audit findings and allow for further questions from 
members about our audit work and recommendations. In April, we also briefed the EGC on QAO’s 
strategic direction and operations.  

Members of parliament are invited to raise concerns about incidences of financial waste or 
mismanagement via our referrals process. This year we received 13 referrals from elected members, 
including councillors. We value their input and consider it as part of our strategic audit planning 
process—our selection of future audit topics.  

Planning our strategic audit program 
The sectors we audit are experiencing significant change, whether due to the impact of COVID-19, 
digital transformation, pressures on revenue sources, ageing assets, new societal needs, increased 
demand for services or the constant requirement for efficiency savings.  

In this context, we continue to focus our audit program on where we can provide the most value. In 
identifying and selecting our audit topics, we continually scan the environment that state and local 
government entities operate in to reflect emerging or systemic risk. We consult widely with entities, 
parliament, and other stakeholders, and welcome topic suggestions from the public.  

Our work program is laid out in a three-year strategic audit plan. We review the plan annually, or when 
new circumstance arise, and publish it on our website to ensure transparency around our work, and to 
give entities sufficient notice to prepare for an audit.  

• •• • 
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The indirect and direct impacts of COVID-19 are revealing specific areas of risk that may benefit from 
further examination. In May 2020, we started to reassess our audit program to ensure the topics 
remain relevant, and to reprioritise the timing of current audits or introduce alternative topics. We will 
provide an acquittal of our revised strategic audit plan to the EGC and will communicate changes with 
our clients. We aim to deliver our Strategic Audit Plan 2021–24 in early 2021. 

In the coming year, we aim to become more agile with our audit planning. We need to respond quickly 
to emerging or critical risks, and focus our audits on the matters that are most important to 
Queenslanders, at the right time and when they will provide the most value. 

Garnering insights from our referrals process 
We investigate financial waste and mismanagement raised by elected members, state and local 
government employees, and the public. We call these concerns or submissions ‘referrals’. When we 
receive a referral, we will investigate, if appropriate, per the Auditor-General Act 2009. These 
investigations aim to: 

• strengthen and improve public sector performance, efficacy, and accountability 

• address governance deficits in state and local government entities 

• speak to systemic issues in service delivery 

• uncover and mitigate fraud relating to financial waste or mismanagement.  

Following the investigations, we recommend improvements to the respective entities where 
appropriate, and if the findings are significant, we include them in our reports to parliament. We also 
use the findings or broader emerging themes to inform our forward audit program. We work closely 
with other integrity agencies to pass on matters more relevant to them, such as those around fraud or 
corruption.  

This year, we received 76 referrals, up six on last year, and we had finalised all of them at 30 June 
2020. We expect to receive more referrals in the lead up to state and local government elections, both 
occurring in Queensland in 2020.  

Over half of the referrals came from the general public (57 per cent), and the rest were from elected 
members, entity management and via public interest disclosures. Some referrals were also made 
anonymously.   

We received referrals relating to 36 different state or local government entities. The predominant 
themes or topics of the referrals were financial mismanagement (40 per cent), expenditure (22 per 
cent), unethical behaviour (22 per cent), procurement (eight per cent) and governance (seven per 
cent). Forty of this year’s referrals related to departments, and 21 to local government matters. Fifteen 
referrals related to other agencies, such as government owned corporations and statutory bodies. 

A key focus for us now is improving how we utilise the intelligence our referrals provide us. We will 
implement processes that enable more systematic analysis and highlight trends, risk, or consistent 
issues. This data will inform our forward audit program and audit work.  

Evolving our audit methodology  
This year, we undertook a major body of work to evolve the methodology we use to conduct our 
assurance reviews and performance audits to increase our audit flexibility and agility. We compared 
our approach to Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards and reflected pertinent elements of 
international best practice.  

The main changes include clearer governance gateways, new approaches to budgeting and 
documentation, more targeted external communication, and a stronger whole-of-office perspective. 
Importantly, it focuses us on better managing the value of our audits by reporting to parliament on the 
right topics at the right time.  

Next, we will further develop our capability across our business by providing in-depth training for our 
staff, ensuring we fully maximise the benefits the methodology provides our clients and our staff.  

• • •• 
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Developing our reporting to parliament  
We are improving how quickly we can respond to risks emerging across government, share our 
findings and insights with our clients, and report to parliament on time-sensitive issues.  

QAO examines many operational and service delivery issues, but not all of these automatically lead to 
a full performance audit. This year, we reviewed the types of reports to parliament that we produce. 
Three new publications will now complement our existing audit reports. They range in depth and 
degree of evaluation:  

• Topic overviews—which may provide information on complex topics, set out key facts, identify 
underlying assumptions and summarise 
complex issues 

• Information briefs—which may set out 
key facts, may involve some evaluation, 
and may include findings and 
recommendations for entities 

• Auditor-General’s insights—which may 
provide further evaluation and often 
highlight recurring or future risks and 
issues. They may draw on other QAO 
work across government. 

We of course continue to produce reports on the results of our audits. 

Our new publications are produced under our existing legislative mandate, the Auditor-General Act 
2009. They will give us more avenues to share the insights we gather from our audit work with entities, 
parliament, and the wider Queensland community. They enable us to respond quickly to the issues we 
see emerging across state and local government entities.  

It is important we seek feedback on the value of these new publications, and indeed all our reports, 
and we will engage closely with our clients on our new approach.  

Continuing our focus on audit quality  
Audit quality is a serious matter, and we undertake a range of activities each year to improve and 
manage our effectiveness.  

Our well-established governance mechanisms oversee and lead our audit quality practice and culture. 
In 2019, we established an audit quality sub-committee that reports to QAO’s Audit and Risk 
Management Committee. This sub-committee is led by independent, experienced audit professionals 
who are not only monitoring our audit quality journey, but also helping us develop contemporary, 
efficient, and more effective responses to audit quality.  

Our system of quality control is built on the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing Standards and 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board—ASQC 1 Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and 
Reviews of Financial Reports and Other Financial Information, Other Assurance Engagements and 
Related Services Engagements. 

As enabled by our new operating model, we now assign the responsibility of Engagement Quality 
Control Reviewer (EQCR) to Assistant Auditors-General for high-risk engagements. 

A significant component of our quality assurance program is examining our audit service providers’ 
practices and audit engagement files. We are continuing to refine how we review their work so we can 
better and more efficiently inform them of improvement opportunities.  

Each year, we develop comprehensive plans that cover all aspects of quality for our assurance 
services. In 2019–20 we completed more than 60 quality assurance reviews of audits delivered by 
QAO and our audit service providers. For specific audit engagement files, we completed 34 closed 
(‘cold’) file reviews, and 21 open (’hot’) file reviews. 

• •• 
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We sought independent and expert advice on refining the program we use to conduct our closed audit 
file reviews. The refinements mean we are now more closely aligned to the Australian Securities and 
Investment Commission’s (ASIC) audit inspection approach for listed entities, while still encompassing 
the key requirements of professional accounting and auditing bodies, and the Australian Council of 
Auditors-General (ACAG). 

Investing in quality assurance training  
QAO’s audit quality ‘engine room’ is fuelled by our auditors’ commitment to best practice and learning. 
We invest in training our workforce to support excellence.   

We developed, implemented, and tested a new root cause analysis program for audit engagements. 
This program offers us new insights into where auditors can improve, and effectively informs our next 
cycle of learning and development.  

We share the results of our annual quality assurance reviews with our staff and audit service 
providers. Our latest quality reviews gave us important insights, and areas for us to focus on next 
year, mainly around documentation, and timeliness of completing procedures and locking down files.  

Embracing technology and digital innovation  
Our systems during a year of change 
In response to COVID-19, we enacted our business continuity plan with speed and agility. Our digital 
and technology capability reflects the culmination of initiatives over the past few years, including: 

• a cloud-first technology environment, with multi-factor authentication and robust virtual private 
network (VPN). By migrating or decommissioning on-premise and legacy systems, QAO was able 
to provide a near-seamless remote-working experience for all staff 

• our activity-based working model, which allowed all staff to be flexible, observe better physical 
hygiene practices, and ease physical transition back to the office 

• a highly mobile and more tech-savvy workforce where people understand and appreciate the 
importance of cyber security and awareness. 

We also effectively live streamed QAO-hosted events and presented remotely at a range of online 
industry or client events.  

Advancing our audit analytics capability  
This year, we further incorporated analytics into our audit approaches, prepared for the future of 
analytics, and grew a team of specialists with backgrounds in audit, advanced mathematics, data 
science, and programming.  

Our new operating model enabled us to better incorporate our 
analytics capability into our client services, enabling a more 
effective approach where we target our audit focus on areas of 
risk. This means we have fewer requests for our clients to provide 
documents during each audit visit.   

We redesigned our analytics database to better harness the data 
we receive from our clients. This included implementing robotics 
into our data processing, and smarter error checking so we can more quickly prioritise and resolve 
issues with data supply. We can now also integrate external third-party data sets, such as the 
Australian Securities and Investment Commission (ASIC) and the Australian Business Register (ABR).   

QAO also continued to share learnings from its analytics capability with our clients who are embarking 
on data journeys. Some presentations to industry included CPA Australia events, the Local 
Government Finance Professionals annual conference, and the Public Sector Network’s roadshow.  

Our analytics capability had a 
key part to play during 
COVID-19. We expanded our 
data supply to facilitate remote 
auditing and minimise the 
impact of auditors not being 
able to attend audit sites in 
person. 

• • •• 
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One of our directors is on the CPA Digital Transformation Centre of Excellence committee. The 
committee conducts research and provides thought leadership on digital transformations, and 
resultant impacts on the accountancy profession. 

Next year, we will focus on better integrating analytics into our audits with the introduction of our new 
audit software. 

Rolling out our new audit software  
We continued to improve our new audit software by finalising our public sector audit template and 
implementing it across university audits for 2020, ahead of our broader rollout. 

We implemented functionalities that will enable us to take advantage of the software’s suite of 
electronic software programs, lead sheets, checklists, and standardised documents, specifically 
designed for public sector auditing in Australia. By linking to data within the software’s documents in 
real time, our audit system will benefit both auditors and reviewers. Further efficiencies include:  

• standardising audit documentation office-wide 

• ensuring all lead sheets, programs, checklists and working paper annotations are the same for all 
audit engagement files; ensuring each has a consistent look and feel 

• better linking and referencing information in our electronic engagement files, meaning we only need 
to create something once—documents can be used repeatedly with minimal updates 

• reducing the time it takes us to roll forward client engagement files into subsequent years.  

The next phase of this project will be implementing and preparing for all remaining audit engagements. 
This will include a training program and ongoing support for our staff.  

Sharing our insights and learnings  
Our mandate gives us access to a wealth of information, which we collect and analyse during our audit 
work. We endeavour to share the emerging issues, opportunities for improvement, and examples of 
best practice we uncover.  

Campaigning on cyber security  
Protecting important information assets with secure systems is critical to Queensland’s economic and 
security interests, and security organisations are observing significant increases in cyber attacks.  

In October 2019, we tabled our report Managing cyber security risks (Report 3: 2019–20). We 
selected three entities to audit and used expert consultants to compromise sensitive data. 

While our audit was underway, we received a lot of anticipation for our final report. We implemented 
an intensive campaign to share the audit learnings through blog posts and event presentations for 
audit committee chairs and chief finance officers. We hosted two in-depth ‘cyber security insights’ 
sessions for entity governance leads (co-hosted with our contracted experts and the Queensland 
Government Customer Digital Group).  

QAO’s audit director presented at external industry events such as the Corruption Prevention Network 
Queensland and the Local Government Internal Auditors Annual Conference. And we continue to 
receive presentation requests. The cumulative audience reach of these internal and external 
presentations alone was over 700 people.  

Importantly, we briefed all our staff and audit service providers on the audit findings so they could 
share information directly with their clients on a day-to-day basis.  

The messages throughout the report itself were well communicated via insight statements and case 
studies. We also gave each of the audited entities a face-to-face session with the expert consultant 
that penetrated their systems.  

• •• • 
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The interest in, and value of, this report continues to be high particularly as COVID-19 presents further 
risks for both public and private sector organisations. As of 30 June 2020, the report had been viewed 
over 4,300 times on our website.  

A Queensland audit committee chair, who holds leadership positions across several audit committees, 
said: 

‘The report was very easy to read and was not overly technical. The recommendations were very 
practical. I’ve also shared the report with a number of non-government agencies I work with.’ 

Another said that they were: 

‘Very impressed with QAO’s cyber security presentation to audit committee chairs, and that QAO has 
done exceptionally well in the past couple of years by hosting such events and the topics being 
covered, along with our reports, blog posts and other resources.’ 

Learnings around ICT governance 
Over the last couple of years, there have been several cancelled information and communication 
technology (ICT) projects in the public sector and, as a result, heightened interest in ICT governance 
and spending across government. We identified the need for greater disclosure by agencies about 
project cancellations, and for better oversight of ICT projects to mitigate the risks of failed or costly 
project delivery.  

In February 2020, we tabled our report Effectiveness of the State Penalties Enforcement Registry ICT 
reform (Report 10: 2019–20). While the audit related specifically to the State Penalties Enforcement 
Registry (SPER) project, it contained pertinent insights for all entities. A ‘lessons learned’ section of 
the report provided advice on key ICT project governance matters. We shared our advice via our blog, 
a better practice guide, and across our various client and industry events. As at 30 June, the report 
had been viewed over 3,500 times.   

This is a topic we continue to focus on and monitor closely. We have started work on an 
Auditor-General’s insights report to parliament covering significant ICT projects. Planned for 2020–21, 
our report will highlight recurring issues that all entities need to manage, and provide information over 
and above what agencies currently report through the government’s digital projects dashboard. 

Working with local government 
We endeavour to help Queensland’s 77 local governments (councils) maintain their communities’ trust 
and discharge their responsibilities for stewardship, transparency, and accountability.  

March 2020 saw local government elections in Queensland, resulting in 48 per cent of councils 
appointing a new mayor and changes in executive positions. Following the election, the 
Auditor-General wrote to over 500 councillors offering support, providing an overview of our role, and 
seeking feedback on our services. We provided an information pack on the areas we focus on during 
our audits and topical issues councillors need to be aware of. These issues include financial 
sustainability, asset management, governance and culture, and fraud risk management—all of which 
we covered throughout the year during our audit work and via more concerted campaign efforts.   

Each year we work closely with the Department of Local Government, Racing and Multicultural Affairs 
(DLGRMA) to review their guidance on local government financial statements, known as ‘Tropical’.  

We present with DLGRMA at information sessions for council finance staff across the state, covering 
our insights and learnings from the previous year, and areas of focus for the current year-end process. 
This year we held sessions in-person in Townsville, Cairns, Toowoomba, Longreach and one in 
Brisbane, and moved to online sessions during COVID-19.  

In June, we also presented at the Local Government Association of Queensland’s first virtual Civic 
Leaders Conference via pre-recorded video presentation and live Q&A.  
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We are firm believers in the value of in-person engagement, and usually travel to as many client sites 
as possible to conduct our audit planning, interim and final audit testing, and to attend audit committee 
meetings. Given COVID-19, we continued to engage with remote or regional clients via 
video/teleconference with our strong relationships enabling our collaboration to continue. 

Focusing on sustainability  
With increasing uncertainty around future revenue sources, councils need to manage their costs and 
measure their performance to be sustainable in the longer term.  

Our report Managing the sustainability of local government services (Report 2: 2019–20) assessed 
whether councils plan and deliver their services to support long-term financial sustainability.  

We presented the important insights from this report to clients across Queensland, immediately 
following tabling, and will continue to focus on this topic in the year to come as it becomes even more 
pertinent following COVID-19.  

We also developed supporting materials aimed at helping our clients apply the insights and 
recommendations from the report. These included a cost value tool to help councils identify key 
priorities for funding allocation, and fact sheets on measuring service performance and allocating 
corporate overhead costs to services. 

An interactive data dashboard illustrated insights from our report. It allowed users to search for their 
council to view its financial performance and sustainability, and compare information between 
councils. As at 30 June 2020, the dashboard had been viewed over 1,600 times. The report had been 
viewed over 2,500 times.  

A new financial reporting maturity model tool 
In November 2019, we developed a financial reporting preparation maturity model that accommodates 
the different structures and sizes of the organisations we audit, and other client-specific factors that 
influence reporting practices across the public sector.  

Our new model enables our clients to determine their expected level of maturity against QAO’s 
financial reporting model. It outlines the key components that support high quality and timely financial 
reports, using a matrix approach, with four assessment components described across four levels of 
maturity. We do not expect that all entities will consistently sit in the top maturity categories of 
integrated and optimised, rather, their ratings are determined in line with the size, structure, and 
complexity of their organisations.   

To support the model, we developed a self-assessment tool that provides a series of questions for 
each of the key components and helps entities calculate their level of maturity for each. 

We consulted extensively with our clients when developing our new model and tool to ensure it is 
useful, accurate and understandable, and we used the feedback to refine the final product.  

Better communicating our insights 
We recognise that to influence improvement in the public sector, we must communicate in ways that 
make it easy for our clients and stakeholders to access and understand our work.  

This year, we reviewed our reports to check they are effectively communicating our insights. We want 
to better connect with those readers who may not have detailed background knowledge on a certain 
topic, and ensure that our reports suit emerging digital technologies. We restructured and simplified 
our reports and now produce a ‘report on a page’ summary for each. We also continue to coach our 
staff on writing clearly.  
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This year, we journeyed further into data visualisation and provided interactive dashboards for some of 
our reports to parliament. These dashboards illustrate the insights we collect from our audit work and 
are an interactive way for audiences to explore our financial data in detail or view summarised 
information. This year’s dashboards covered our local government, health, energy, and education 
reports. Collectively, these dashboards had been viewed over 4,000 times as at 30 June 2020. Data 
visualisation will continue as a focus for us next year as we find useful and interesting ways to present 
our insights.   

This year, we also implemented online HTML delivery of our reports to improve accessibility, provide a 
better user experience, and ultimately increase reach and readership. This year, our reports were 
collectively read over 30,000 times. Online delivery of our reports contributed to an additional overall 
readership for the year of around 10,000 pageviews when analysing PDF report and online views.  

We will continue to listen to our clients and stakeholders and improve how we write our reports and 
communicate with them.  

Learning from our clients’ feedback 
Every year, we survey our clients to understand their satisfaction with our services so we can address 
any issues they may have. We view the quality of our service delivery holistically as one QAO, but we 
ask our clients for feedback at different points throughout the year based on our specific deliverables.  

This year, we surveyed 320 clients and received 252 responses on our audit process, reporting, and 
value. The overall feedback from all our clients was positive and on par with previous years’ results. 
We achieved an average performance index of 81 points (ip). IP is the average of the aggregate 
indices for each area of performance that the survey explored. Our results have remained stable, and 
while consistently high, it indicates a need for us to seek out all further possible improvement 
opportunities and address client feedback at an individual entity level.  

Clients’ satisfaction with our audit process remained steady and we achieved an index score of 79ip 
across all our services. We are looking at how we can improve the timeliness of our work, balancing it 
with audit quality and our need for independence.  

Some clients continue to suggest that having the same 
auditor each year would mean QAO understands their 
operating environments more quickly. Our new operating 
model will provide for more harmonious service delivery, 
increased knowledge across QAO about more sectors, 
and consistent oversight from our engagement leaders.   

Most of our clients were particularly happy with the 
professionalism of our auditors at 97 per cent, in line with 
96 per cent last year, and 94 per cent gave us positive 
ratings around our skills and knowledge. We see no 
reason not to strive for a 100 per cent rating for this 
performance area in the future 

The satisfaction with our audit reporting (meaning our audit documents and reports to parliament) 
ranged from 78ip to 80ip.  

Nearly all clients agree they value our work—either the assurance and recommendations we provide 
around financial management and internal controls (93 per cent), or that our work will help them 
improve the performance of the audited activity (96 per cent).  

As one client said:  

‘The department values highly the assurance provided through QAO annual financial audit and trusts 
the expertise and professionalism shown by QAO staff. Continued good communication requires 
ongoing effort and attention and it is important that regular and early contact is maintained.’ QAO 
client, 2020.  

We are currently conducting a deeper 
analysis of our client survey results to 
better understand where concerns and 
opportunities for improvement lie at the 
individual client level.  

We wish to gain more strategic insight 
into how our clients view and value our 
work both over time and in relation to 
our latest engagements, so we can 
adapt our work.  
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Working with our peers and professional networks 
We do not work alone. Our many and varied relationships across industry and with our peers provide 
opportunities to share information, best practice and learn from each other.  

Central agencies 
Central agencies for QAO include the Department of the Premier and Cabinet, the Public Service 
Commission, and Queensland Treasury.  

We liaised early with Queensland Treasury during COVID-19 around potential impacts on the timing of 
agencies’ 2019–20 financial reports. We offered our support in the early stages of the government’s 
proposed response to the pandemic, including providing five staff to the Queensland Government 
COVID-19 employee mobilisation service, for agencies that needed support during the pandemic. We 
also continued to work closely with Treasury around financial accounting issues and how we can help 
entities address them.  

Integrity agencies 
Integrity agencies have powers to investigate matters relevant to their role. Members of the public may 
raise matters with them, or the agencies may identify matters when delivering their services. Integrity 
agencies regularly meet to share knowledge and business updates.   

In April 2020, we participated in an integrity agencies joint advisory group, which provided advice for 
public sector leaders on risks and vulnerabilities during COVID-19. A paper co-written by the Crime 
and Corruption Commission, Queensland Ombudsman, Queensland Integrity Commissioner and QAO 
covered advice for chief executives on staff working from home, conflicts of interest, cyber security, 
and tone from the top.  

Each year, QAO participates in a Local Government Quarterly Liaison meeting where the agencies 
that operate in the local government area meet to discuss any learnings that may assist each other. 
We offer insights from our respective work such as referrals, investigations, or public interest 
disclosures.   

Peers 
The Australian Council of Auditors-General (ACAG) is an association that shares information and 
intelligence between auditors-general from Australia and some Asia Pacific audit offices.  

An executive committee guides and monitors ACAG’s engagement and achievement of objectives. 
The committee consists of three auditors-general and its membership rotates, with appointments 
determined on seniority. The convenor chairs the executive committee, acting as the designated 
ACAG spokesperson and representative. Queensland Auditor-General, Brendan Worrall, will assume 
the role of convenor for 2020–21. Brendan Worrall is also the current chair of the ACAG 
sub-committee for audit analytics. 

We collaborate to respond to proposed standards changes, benchmark our performance, and share 
expertise. This year, liaison between the offices was particularly valuable during COVID-19. We each 
shared how we are responding, supporting our clients, and where we will focus our audit programs 
going forward.  
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Overall, QAO participated in 24 ACAG meetings (most of which were virtual) covering audit, financial 
reporting and accounting, standards, audit analytics, and corporate services.  ACAG responded to the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Australian Audit and Assurance Board through the 
Financial Reporting and Accounting Committee ACAG and the Auditing Standard Committee.  QAO 
actively participated or co-ordinated the ACAG technical responses to: 

• Exposure Draft 298 General Presentation and Disclosures 

• AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, AASB 1058 
Income of Not-for-Profit Entities—providing public sector perspectives to these standards 

• Exposure Draft Proposed International Standard of Quality Management ISQM1 and ISQM2 

• Exposure Draft Proposed International Standard on Audits of Financial Statements.  

As a group, ACAG submitted a joint response to the Australian Parliamentary Joint Committee 
Corporations and Financial Services’ inquiry into the regulation of auditing in Australia. And it 
submitted a joint COVID-19 response to the Financial Reporting Council.     

We also often engage with international audit offices, to question them about their recent successes in 
audit and engagement or on specific audit topics. We find it useful to share some of our tools. As a 
recent example, a county audit office in the United Kingdom reached out to us this year about 
adapting our Fraud and corruption self-assessment tool, which we were of course happy to permit.   

We worked particularly closely with the Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, Canada, with our first 
employee exchange program commencing in December 2019. Unfortunately, due to COVID-19, the 
exchange was cut short from a planned six to three months, but both managers had the chance to 
broaden their technical skills and share expertise.  

QAO’s audit manager who headed to Canada said: 

‘The exchange was an opportunity to see how approaches to auditing in the provincial ministries in 
Ontario apply to similar issues facing agencies here in Queensland. I obtained valuable insights into 
the practical application of audit tools such as CaseWare; and alternative approaches to performance 
audit, follow-up audits, report writing and stakeholder relations. It was also interesting to see new 
approaches to auditing Indigenous (First Nations) programs and services. All of this information and 
the contacts I have made internationally will be used to continuously improve QAO’s practices.’ 
John H, May 2020. 

Our guest auditor from Canada, Jesse D said:  

‘The exchange program was an incredible experience for me. I worked with a strong team and learned 
a lot from their approaches to performance audit. Everyone at QAO was welcoming and took the time 
to make me feel at home and teach me about their roles and the operations. I’m excited to bring all 
these great lessons learned back to my office in Canada.’ Jesse D, June 2020. 

Industry and community groups 
We engage with a wide range of industry and community groups based on the work we are doing. It 
helps us hear firsthand about issues with public service delivery and provides essential context for our 
audit work.   

For our last report for the year, Licensing builders and building trades (Report 16: 2019–20), we held 
meetings early on with the Housing Industry Association, Master Plumbers Association, Master 
Builders Association, and the Board of Professional Engineers Queensland. These meetings informed 
the scope of our audit.  

We engaged with a range of stakeholders for our report Managing coal seam gas activities  
(Report 12: 2019–20) including the University of Queensland, CSIRO, resource companies, 
community groups, and industry bodies. We also liaised with other audit offices and integrity agencies 
on this topic.  

• • •• 
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For our current audit on regulating firearms (due to table in 2020–21) we have so far engaged the 
Australian Medical Association Queensland, Gun Control Australia, Women's Legal Services 
Queensland, and Public Health Association Australia.  

We received 20 contributions from Queenslanders via our website, which informed the planning and 
conduct stages of our audits. 

Professional networks  
We enjoy liaising closely with professional accounting and auditing bodies, and standard-setting 
boards.  

This year we continued to work closely with CPA Australia. We conducted general liaison on 
accounting standards and developments in financial reporting. One of our directors was appointed to a 
casual vacancy at the Queensland Divisional Council. And another was invited to join CPA Australia’s 
public sector committee, which represents the views of its members, bringing a wealth of experience 
from a variety of industries across Queensland.  

Some of our presentations included the Queensland Public Sector Discussion Group, the Queensland 
Compliance and Management Reporting Discussion Group, and the Brisbane Congress—all on 
accounting standards updates. We also presented at the ACT Congress on understanding key 
standards.  

Further afield, another QAO director joined CPA Australia members on a teleconference with 
30 representatives of the Malaysian Accountant General’s Department, to provide advice on their 
move to accrual accounting.  

We had the pleasure of working with the Institute of Public Works Engineering Australasia (IPEWA), 
Queensland. In their June issue of Engineering for Public Works, one of QAO’s Assistant 
Auditors-General partnered with Brisbane City Council to respond to a community question on 
systems integration for effectively managing assets. We also provided some content for IPWEA’s 
learning hub on financial sustainability for senior public works engineers. 

Also in the asset world, several QAO managers and directors participated in the Asset Institute’s 
Public Assets Collaborative Group, which is a special interest group comprising the peak bodies 
involved in asset management. 

We helped the Queensland Local Government Finance Professionals (LGFP) celebrate their 
40th year, presenting at their annual conference on the past and future of auditing local government. A 
QAO director discussed how audit teams are using data to increase efficiency and effectiveness, 
which is arguably the most significant change to audit over the past 40 years. This event was 
particularly timely for us given our own upcoming anniversary—our 160th on 27 September 2020. 
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Priorities for next year 
QAO remains committed to its purpose of independent valued assurance and insights, and its vision of 
better public services. Next year, we will continue our journey towards more consistent client service 
delivery, deeper engagement, increased insights from our work, widely sharing our learnings, and 
improving our internal efficiencies.  

A capable and high performing workforce that feels engaged and valued is paramount. We will grow 
the skills of our people to prepare us for the future. Bedding down our more strategic, 
systems-approach to resourcing will enable us to partner the right expertise on the right audits.  
Reflected in our Strategic Plan 2020–24 is our need to strengthen and refine how we work with our 
audit service providers.  

Our forward audit program will focus on the most important risks to government performance and the 
efficient and effective use of public money. We will need to balance the ongoing issues and challenges 
facing government with new ones emerging from COVID-19. We must seek out and share 
cross-government insights to support Queensland’s recovery from the pandemic.  

Following the Queensland state election in October 2020, we will reach out to parliament to better 
understand how we can best present our insights for them, so they understand the issues and 
opportunities for service improvement we are finding. 

We want people to know about and use our work. We must ensure our knowledge is easily accessible 
for all our clients and stakeholders by catering for the varied ways our large and broad readers prefer 
to receive information.   

To ensure maximum effectiveness of the recommendations we make in our reports and during our 
audit work, we wish to follow up entities’ implementation more rigorously. This will allow us to judge 
the effectiveness of our recommendations and provide both audit clients and parliament with status 
updates.  

Changes to the audit landscape will present new demands and opportunities for audit professionals. 
We will continue to invest in quality—leading by example—and will deliver our updated methodologies 
and software. We will enhance our use of advanced data analysis to focus our audits and to provide 
valuable insights for our clients.   

Operationally, we have several deliverables for information technology next year. We will continually 
improve our security posture, migrate away from legacy systems, implement new platforms such as 
SharePoint Online. We will apply our learnings from the COVID-19 period to advance our collaboration 
technology. There is also scope to improve our cloud-first approach.  

On 27 September 2020, we celebrate 160 years of service to Queensland—a pertinent milestone to 
reflect on the integral role we have in Queensland’s system of government. We look forward to 
celebrating who we are and where we are going with our clients and stakeholders. Our staff are 
fiercely proud of the work they do and the contribution they make to Queensland. 

In support of our submission to the Queensland Greats Awards this year, Sir Leo Hielscher, an 
admirable Queenslander and former QAO staff member said: ‘the Auditor-General’s department 
enjoys its integrity. It serves the people of Queensland with vigour and forthrightness.’   
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Financial statements and independent 
auditor’s reports 

QAO funds the costs of its operations from the financial audit fees we charge our clients and from 
parliamentary appropriation.  

Our funding from parliament, received under the Appropriation (Parliament) Bill 2019, for 2019–20 was 
$7.1 million, marginally over our budget of $6.9 million with the increase relating to additional funding 
to support the public sector enterprise bargaining outcomes. Our appropriation is allocated to our 
reporting to parliament, delivering performance audit services, preparing the strategic audit plan, 
investigating referrals, and renumerating the Auditor-General.  

The income from our audit fees was $36.9 million, $1.6 million below our budget of $38.5 million, as 
we billed less work to our clients during the COVID-19 lockdown months.  

Fortunately, the pandemic did not majorly affect our ability to do our job. On its outbreak, we 
anticipated and planned for less audit work from our clients and less travel to our regional clients.  This 
had a resultant impact on our revenue. In response, we immediately reduced our discretionary 
spending, including by spending less on contracted audit resources and our planned audit program.  

However, overall, we were able to deliver most of our audit services for most of our clients this year 
and did not need to secure additional funding. With reduced travel, we passed some cost savings on 
to our clients. Our overall total income from our continuing operations was $44.4 million, slightly under 
budget of $45.6 million. 

QAO’s total expenses were $43.7 million, similar to last year at $43.1 million, and slightly under 
budget by $1.2 million. COVID-19 did not majorly impact our expenditure because we still had to pay 
of our staff, audit service providers and accommodation costs.   

More than half of our expenses were staff costs at $23.9 million, and our next largest cost was our 
contracted audit service providers at $12.5 million. Our other expenses were conservative, covering 
some specialist consultants, rent and office services, and information technology or minor office 
equipment.  Due to our investment in technology in previous years we did not need to make any large 
purchases to be able to continue our audit operations effectively. 

We continue to operate as a sustainable and contemporary public sector audit practice.  

The following pages of this report contain: 

• the Queensland Audit Office’s financial statements 

• the Queensland Audit Office’s performance statement 

• the independent auditor’s report from Hall Chadwick Queensland.  

• •• • 
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Financial statements and independent auditor’s report 
 

Queensland Audit Office 
Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

 
Contents 

 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
Certificate of the Queensland Audit Office 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 

General Information 
 
These financial statements cover the Queensland Audit Office (QAO) for the 2019-20 financial year. 
QAO is established under the Auditor-General Act 2009 to provide independent, valued assurance 
and insights. 
 
QAO is a not-for-profit entity with the objective to strengthen public sector accountability by providing 
independent audit services, including reporting to Parliament.  QAO is a department for financial 
reporting purposes (as described in the Financial Accountability Act 2009) and is consolidated into the 
Report on State Finances of the Queensland Government. 
 
The principal place of business is: 

Level 13, 53 Albert Street 
BRISBANE  QLD  4000 

 
For information relating to QAO’s financial report please: 
 
• call (07) 3149 6000, 
• email enquiries@qao.qld.gov.au  
• or visit the QAO’s internet site www.qao.qld.gov.au. 
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Queensland Audit Office 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 

For the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

 
 Notes 2020 

Actual 
 

$’000 

2020 
Original 
Budget 

$’000 

 
Budget 

Variance* 
$’000 

2019 
Actual 

 
$’000 

Income from Continuing Operations      

Audit fees 2(i) 36,965 38,549 (1,584) 37,665 

Appropriation revenue for services 2(ii) 7,143 6,922 221 6,835 

Other revenue 2(iii) 365 207 158 230 

Total Income from Continuing 
Operations  44,473 45,678 (1,205) 44,730 

      

Expenses from Continuing Operations      

Employee expenses 3 23,944 24,001 (57) 21,170 

Supplies and services 4 18,953 20,325 (1,372) 21,142 

Depreciation and amortisation 8 (b) 405 399 6 345 

Other expenses 5 448 307 141 477 

Total Expenses from Continuing 
Operations  43,750 45,032 (1,282) 43,134 

      
Total Operating Result from Continuing 
Operations/Comprehensive Income  723 646 77 1,596 

 
 
 

*An explanation of major variances is included at Note 12 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these statements 
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Queensland Audit Office 
Statement of Financial Position 

As at 30 June 2020 
 

 
 Notes 2020 

Actual 
 

$’000 

2020 
Original 
Budget 

$’000 

 
Budget 

Variance* 
$’000 

2019 
Actual 

 
$’000 

Current Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 1(d) 7,147 7,285 (138) 7,189 

Work in progress 6 3,743 2,500 1,243 3,574 

Receivables 7 3,451 4,338 (887) 3,054 

Other current assets  565 500 65 350 

Total Current Assets  14,906 14,623 283 14,167 

      

Non-Current Assets      

Plant and equipment 8(c)(i) 153 170 (17) 209 

Intangible assets 8(c)(ii) 318 338 (20) 641 

Total Non-Current Assets  471 508 (37) 850 

      

Total Assets  15,377 15,131 246 15,017 

      

Current Liabilities - Payables and accruals 9 1,851 1,654 197 2,214 

Non-Current Liabilities - Provision for lease 10 .. .. .. 17 

Total Liabilities  1,851 1,654 197 2,231 

      

Net Assets  13,526 13,477 49 12,786 

Equity      

Contributed equity  5,183 5,183 .. 5,183 

Accumulated surplus  8,343 8,294 49 7,603 

Total Equity  13,526 13,477 49 12,786 
 
  

*An explanation of major variances is included at Note 12. 

The accompanying notes form part of these statements. 
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Queensland Audit Office 
Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

 Notes Accumulated 
Surplus 

$’000 

Contributed 
Equity 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Balance as at 1 July 2019  7,603 5,183 12,786 

Effect of changes in accounting policy  
AASB 16 10 17 .. 17 

Restated Balance as at 1 July 2019  7,620 5,183 12,803 
Operating result from continuing 
operations  723  723 

Balance as at 30 June 2020  8,343 5,183 13,526 

     

  
Accumulated 

Surplus 
$’000 

Contributed 
Equity 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Balance as at 1 July 2018  6,007 5,183 11,190 

Operating result from continuing 
operations  1,596 .. 1,596 

Balance as at 30 June 2019  7,603 5,183 12,786 
  

The accompanying notes form part of these statements. 
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Queensland Audit Office 
Statement of Cash Flows 

For the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

 
 Notes 2020 

Actual 
 

$’000 

2020 
Original 
Budget 

$’000 

 
Budget Variance* 

$’000 

2019 
Actual 

 
$’000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities      

Inflows:      

Audit fees  36,499 38,448 (1,949) 36,659 

Appropriation revenue for services  7,143 6,922 221 6,835 

GST input tax credits from ATO  2,026 1,820 206 2,181 

GST collected from customers  3,701 3,152 549 3,575 

Other revenue  152 .. 152 24 

Outflows:      

Employee expenses  (24,210) (24,607) 397 (21,052) 

Supplies and services  (19,375) (20,766) 1,391 (22,012) 

GST paid to suppliers  (1,924) (1,891) (33) (2,262) 

GST remitted to ATO  (3,803) (3,650) (153) (3,630) 

Other expenses  (225) (306) 81 (229) 

Net Cash Provided by / (Used in) 
Operating Activities 14 (16) (878) 862 89 

      
Net Cash used in Investing Activities 
– Payments for plant and equipment and 
intangibles 

 
(26) .. (26) (225) 

      
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents 

 (42) (878) 836 (136) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning 
of financial year 

 7,189 8,163 (974) 7,325 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of 
Financial Year  

 7,147 7,285 (138) 7,189 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Queensland Audit Office 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

*An explanation of major variances is included at Note 12. 

The accompanying notes form part of these statements. 
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Queensland Audit Office 
Statement of Cash Flows 

For the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

QAO supports the statutory role and functions of Auditor-General, who is parliament’s auditor for all state 
and local government entities. The Auditor-General is fully independent, appointed by the Queensland 
Governor in Council for a seven-year term.  Our work is governed by the Auditor-General Act 2009 and 
guided by Australian auditing and accounting standards. 

The Auditor-General’s mandate includes annual financial audits and performance audits. We also 
conduct investigations about financial waste and mismanagement, and report on “best practice” ways 
that many entities or local governments can improve performance and service delivery. The outcomes 
from our work include: 

• Improved public sector and local government financial management and reporting 

• Maintaining confidence in financial accountability transparency, and reporting 

• Supporting Queenslanders by providing recommendations to our clients on how they can improve 
their delivery of better public services 

• Providing parliament with independent assurance over the performance of the public sector. 

Financial audits are performed on a fee for service basis and account for approximately 86 per cent of 
QAO’s revenue.   To assist in executing our mandate, QAO engages private sector audit firms to 
undertake around 35 per cent of our work. These contracted firms are agents of the Auditor-General and 
their services are led and overseen by QAO. 

The balance of QAO’s revenue comes from parliamentary appropriation which is for remuneration of the 
Auditor-General, reports to parliament, performance audits and investigation of matters referred to us. 
Apart from the Auditor-General, all of QAO’s staff are employed under the Public Service Act 2008.  The 
parliamentary Economic and Governance Committee provides oversight of the Auditor-General and 
QAO. 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
Significant accounting policies are shown in the notes to which they relate, except as follows:  

(a) Statement of compliance 

These general-purpose financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis, except for the 
statement of cash flows, and in accordance with: 

• section 38 of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2019 

• applicable Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations 

• Queensland Treasury’s Minimum Reporting Requirements for reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 July 2019.  

The historical cost convention is used unless otherwise stated. Under historical cost, assets are recorded 
at the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the consideration given to acquire 
assets at the time of their acquisition. Liabilities are recorded at the amount of proceeds received in 
exchange for the obligation or at the amounts of cash or cash equivalents expected to be paid to satisfy 
the liability in the normal course of business.  

(b) Currency and Rounding 

Amounts included in the financial statements are in Australian dollars and have been rounded to the 
nearest $1,000 or, where that amount is less than $500, to zero unless disclosure of the full amount is 
specifically required. 

  

Page 6 • •• • 



Queensland Audit Office  |  Annual report 2019–20 

 

32 

Queensland Audit Office 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2020 

 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
(c) Taxation 
QAO is a state body as defined under the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 and is exempt from 
Commonwealth taxation except for Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT) and Goods and Services Tax (GST).  
Revenues, expenses, and assets are recognised exclusive of GST, except: 

• receivables and payables, which include input tax credits and GST payable, and the net amount due 
to or receivable from the Australian Tax Office (ATO) 

• where the amount incurred is not recoverable from the ATO.   
The GST components of cash flows arising from investing activities which are recoverable from, or 
payable to the ATO are included as operating cash flows.   
(d) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash assets comprise funds at call with the Commonwealth Bank of Australia.   
(e) First year application of new accounting standards  
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  
This standard became effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 and contains 
detailed requirements for the accounting for certain types of revenue from customers. An analysis of the 
impact of AASB15 on QAO revenue was undertaken. QAO currently recognises revenue as services are 
performed (over time).  AASB15 paragraphs 35 to 37 (and related guidance) includes provisions for 
similar situations where performance obligations are satisfied over time.  Based on this guidance, there 
is no impact or change on how revenue is recognised in our financial statements. 
AASB 16 Leases  
This standard became effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.  
Amendments to former operating leases for office accommodation 
During the 2018-19 financial year, the QAO held operating leases under AASB 117 from the Department 
of Housing and Public Works (DHPW) for non-specialised, commercial office accommodation through 
the Queensland Government Accommodation Office (QGAO).  
Effective 1 July 2019, the office accommodation management framework agreement that governs 
QGAO was amended to provide DHPW with substantive substitution rights over state-government 
leased non-specialised, commercial office accommodation, including the premises occupied by QAO. As 
a result the accommodation arrangements between QAO and DHPW do not meet the definition of a 
lease under AASB16 and therefore are exempt from lease accounting. 
From 2019-20 onwards, costs for these services will be expensed as supplies and services expense 
when incurred. 
As at 30 June 2019 the deferred lease liability associated with this lease was $17,000.  In the current 
year the remaining lease liability was reversed and moved to accumulated surplus as an opening 
balance adjustment for 2019-20. The new accounting treatment is due to a change in the contractual 
arrangements rather than a change in accounting policy. 
Short-term leases and leases of low value assets 
QAO has elected to recognise lease payments for short-term leases and leases of low value assets as 
expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term, rather than accounting for them on balance sheet. 
This accounting treatment is similar to that used for operating leases under AASB 117. 

(g) Issuance of financial statements 
The financial statements are authorised for issue by the Auditor-General of Queensland and the Chief 
Financial Officer at the date of signing the Certificate of the QAO.  
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Queensland Audit Office 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

 

2. Revenue  
QAO charges fees for financial audit services on a full cost recovery basis. 

QAO also receives parliamentary appropriation for: 

• the position of the Auditor-General 

• the conduct of performance audits  

• reporting to Parliament on the results of financial and performance audits performed  

• providing advice and assistance to the Parliament and central agencies 

• preparation of the Strategic Audit Plan 

• investigating matters referred in relation to financial waste and mismanagement. 

(i) Audit fees for services to the public sector 

QAO recognises revenue from audit fees when the work is undertaken. This includes audit work 
completed by contracted audit firms on behalf of QAO. 

(ii) Appropriation revenue for services to the Parliament 

QAO recognises appropriation revenue in the year when the services are performed, which matches the 
timing of cash transfers made by Queensland Treasury under the Appropriation (Parliament) Bill 2019. 

 2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

Revenue   

Budgeted appropriation 6,922 6,835 

Queensland Treasury adjustments 221  

Total 7,143 6,835 
Queensland Treasury adjustments reflect two items: 

1. QAO received $222,000 in additional appropriation for a one-off Enterprise Bargaining in principle 
payment.  A payment of a $1,250 one off, prorata payment was made for 176 full time equivalent 
eligible employees  

2. A fiscal limit reduction adjustment of $1,000 for the whole of Government Microsoft Core CAL and 
SAP Software Support. 

 (iii) Other Revenue 
 2020 

$’000 
2019 
$’000 

Other revenue   
Storage services received free of charge 198 206 
Miscellaneous receipts 167 24 

Total 365 230 

Miscellaneous receipts consist of amounts recovered from other audit offices for their share of services 
including – review of Papua New Guinea Audit Office, benchmarking fees and audit software support.  In 
2019-20 QAO also received proceeds from the disposal of laptops. 
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Queensland Audit Office 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

 

3. Employee Expenses 

* Wages and salaries includes $220,000 representing $1,250 one-off, pro-rata payments for 176 full time equivalent 
employees (announced in September 2019). 
** Employee expenses – other represents professional fee membership reimbursements and Study and Research 
Assistance scheme payments. 

The number of employees on a full-time equivalent (FTE) basis under the Minimum Obligatory Human 
Resource Information (MOHRI) classification methodology is: 

 2020 2019 

Number of employees as at 30 June 190 185 

(a) Employee benefits 

Employee benefits include employer superannuation contributions, annual leave and long service leave 
levies. 

Workers’ compensation insurance is not included in an employee’s total remuneration package and is 
recognised separately as employee related expenses.  

(i) Wages, salaries and sick leave 

Wages and salaries are recognised at current salary rates as it is expected these liabilities will be wholly 
settled within 12 months of year end. Sick leave is recognised as an expense when the leave is taken. 

(ii) Annual leave and long service leave 

QAO is a member of the Queensland Government’s Annual Leave and Long Service Leave Schemes. 
QAO pays a levy to these schemes to cover the cost of employees’ annual leave (including leave loading 
and on-costs) and long service leave. QAO expenses these levies in the period in which they are 
payable and claims from these schemes quarterly in arrears for amounts paid to employees for leave 
taken.  

QAO does not recognise a provision for annual leave or long service leave as these liabilities are held 
and disclosed in the Report on State Finances of the Queensland Government pursuant to AASB 1049 
Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting. 

  

 Note 2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

Employee Benefits    

Wages, salaries and sick leave*  18,690 16,607 

Annual leave levy 3(ii) 1,908 1,686 

Long service leave levy 3(ii) 449 337 

Employer superannuation contributions   2,507 2,282 

Fringe benefits tax   70 76 

Voluntary early retirements  145 .. 

Total Employee Benefits  23,769 20,988 
Employee Related Expenses      
WorkCover Queensland premium  36 34 

Employee expenses – other**  139 148 

Total Employee Related Expenses  175 182 
    
Total  23,944 21,170 
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Queensland Audit Office 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2020 

 

3. Employee Expenses (continued) 
(ii) Annual leave and long service leave (continued) 

As part of managing the impact of COVID-19 on QAO, on the 16 April 2020 the Auditor-General issued a 
direction to all staff under the Industrial Relations Act 2016 to take 5 days annual leave between the 
period 15 June and 31 August 2020. 

(iii) Superannuation 

Superannuation is provided through defined contribution (accumulation) plans or the Queensland 
Government’s QSuper defined benefit plan as determined by the employee’s conditions of employment.   

Defined (Accumulation) Contribution Plans - Contributions are made to eligible complying 
superannuation funds based on the rates specified in the relevant conditions of employment. 
Contributions are expensed when they are paid or become payable following completion of the 
employee’s service each pay period.   

Defined Benefit Plan - The liability for defined benefits is held on a whole-of-government basis and 
reported in those financial statements pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General 
Government Sector Financial Reporting. The amount of contributions for defined benefit plan obligations 
is based upon the rates determined on the advice of the State Actuary.  Contributions are paid by QAO 
at the specified rate following completion of the employee’s service each pay period. The QAO’s 
obligations are limited to those contributions paid. 

(b) Key executive management personnel and remuneration 

(i) Key executive management personnel  

Details of key executive management personnel are disclosed in accordance with section 3C of the 
Financial Reporting Requirements for Queensland Government Agencies. Key executive management 
personnel encompass positions which form part of the Executive Management Group. This group had 
the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the QAO during 
2019–20. 

Auditor-General – undertakes financial and performance audits of Queensland state and local 
government entities and provides Parliament with independent assurance of public sector accountability 
and performance as defined in the Auditor-General Act 2009. 

Deputy Auditor-General – the statutory role of Deputy Auditor-General is only filled when the Auditor-
General is unavailable – the Deputy Auditor-General then acts as Auditor – General.  

Assistant Auditors-General – lead and set the strategic direction of financial and specialist audit 
services.  

Further information on these positions is in the QAO Annual Report under the Leadership and 
Governance section.  

(ii) Remuneration 

The remuneration policy for QAO’s key executive management personnel is set by the Queensland 
Public Service Commission as provided for under the Public Service Act 2008 and the Auditor-General 
Act 2009.  

Individual remuneration and other terms of employment are specified in employment contracts. 

Remuneration packages comprise the following components: 
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3. Employee Expenses (continued) 
(ii)   Remuneration (continued)  
• short term employee benefits which include: 

­ base — salary, incentives, allowances and leave entitlements paid and accrued for the year 
or for that part of the year during which the employee occupied the specified position  

­ non-monetary benefits — car parking and the applicable fringe benefits tax 
• long term employee benefits include long service leave accrued 
• post-employment benefits include superannuation contributions 
• redundancy payments are not provided for within individual contracts of employment. Contracts of 

employment provide only for notice periods or payments in lieu of notice on termination regardless 
of the reason for termination 

• performance bonuses are not paid under the current contracts. 
Total fixed remuneration is calculated on a total ‘cost’ basis and includes the base and non-monetary 
benefits, long term employee benefits and post-employment benefits.   

Position  Name Short Term Employee 
Benefits 

Long Term 
Employee 
Benefits 

Post-
Employment 
Benefits 

Total 
Remuneration 

Base Non-
Monetary 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020       

Auditor-General B Worrall 468 12 11 55 546 

Deputy Auditor-General * 
(1/7/19 – 13/12/19) D Bird 227 11 4 16 262 

Deputy Auditor-General  
(commencing 14/12/19) 
& Assistant Auditor-General  

K Johnson 273 12 6 29 320 

Assistant Auditor-General P Brahman 273 12 6 31 322 

Assistant Auditor-General 
(commencing 01/01/20) P Flemming 112 6 3 10 131 

Assistant Auditor-General 
(commencing 01/01/20) D Olive 109 6 3 10 128 

Assistant Auditor-General 
(commencing 01/01/20) R Vagg 112 6 3 11 132 

Total 2020      1,841 

1 July 2018 – 30 June 2019       

Auditor-General B Worrall 456 13 11 53 533 

Deputy Auditor-General 
(commencing 1/2/18) 
Assistant Auditor-General 
(1/7/17 – 31/1/18) 

D Bird 313 13 6 33 365 

Assistant Auditor-General P Brahman 273 13 6 31 323 

Assistant Auditor-General K Johnson 273 13 6 28 320 

Total 2019      1,541 

2019-2020: *Total remuneration includes annual and long service leave entitlements payout of $71,131 

(iii) Performance payments 

No KMP remuneration packages provide for performance or bonus payments.  
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3. Employee Expenses (continued) 
(iv) Related Party Transactions 

Transactions with people or entities related to Key Executive Management Personnel (KMP) 

No transactions with people or entities related to the QAO’s KMP were reported for this financial year. 

Transactions with other Queensland Government-controlled entities 

QAO receives appropriation revenue for the statutory position of Auditor-General and other appropriation 
funded services (refer Note 2), both of which are provided in cash via Queensland Treasury. 

QAO provides audit and assurance services which are paid for directly by public sector entities. 

4. Supplies and Services 

 2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

   

Payment to audit service providers 12,544 13,833 

Consultants and expert advice 1,084 2,194 

Payments to employment agencies for contractor personnel 1,231 666 

Rent and office services 1,825 1,598 

Leasehold restoration (i) .. (512) 

Information technology and minor office equipment 1,019 1,950 

Staff development 140 189 

Travel costs 495 572 

Bureau charges 188 118 

Other administrative costs 427 
 534 

Total 18,953 21,142 
 

(i) On 1 April 2019 QAO entered into a new arrangement with DHPW for the use of Level 14 and part Level 13, 
53 Albert Street, Brisbane City whereby QAO no longer has a present obligation to restore the office 
accommodation to its original state at end of arrangement. The provision for lease restoration was therefore 
released during 2018-2019. 

5. Other Expenses 
 2020 

$’000 
2019 

$’000 
   

Internal audit fees 147 141 

External audit fees* 29 29 

Insurance premiums – QGIF 50 59 

Storage services received free of charge 198 206 

Other expenses 24 42 
Total 448 477 

* Total audit fees due to Hall Chadwick QLD relating to the 2019-20 financial year are $32 500 (2018-19:  $32 500).  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
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6. Work in Progress  
Work in progress represents services performed but not yet invoiced and is based on:  

• weekly timesheets and hourly rates for each level of staff. The rates are determined by the Auditor-
General to provide for full cost recovery at the beginning of each year and approved by the 
Treasurer 

• costs of work undertaken for QAO by contracted audit firms. The total estimated cost of contracted-
out work is agreed in advance of the work commencing, but may be subject to variations as the work 
proceeds 

• outlays such as travel and accommodation directly incurred in completing the work that are yet to be 
recovered. 

The recoverability of work in progress is regularly reviewed and an allowance for impairment is provided 
if there is evidence that amounts are not fully recoverable.  

As at reporting date, all work in progress is assessed as fully recoverable.  The basis of assessment 
considers: 

• no work is disputed by clients 

• no unexplained overdue WIP exists 

• no amounts are outstanding for entities that no longer exist, and  

• good quality credit history, with our clients being Government entities. 

7. Receivables 

Receivables are recognised when an invoice is issued and work in progress is reduced accordingly. 
Invoices are issued periodically, based on milestones or completion of the work. The total estimated cost 
of audit engagements is communicated in advance of the work commencing but may be subject to 
variations as the work proceeds. Invoices are due for settlement within 14 days of invoice date. 

All receivables are current and expected to be fully collectible based on good credit quality and recent 
collection history. 

 

 

 

 

  

 2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

   

Audit fees receivable 2,900 2,581 

Annual leave reimbursement 487 303 

Long service leave reimbursement 49 149 

Other receivables 15 21 

Total 3,451 3,054 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
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8. Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets  
(a) Acquisition 

All plant and equipment and intangible assets are initially recognised and subsequently measured at 
cost. Cost comprises purchase price plus additional expenditure incurred to maintain the asset in the 
condition necessary to be used as intended.  

Assets are only recognised in the Statement of Financial Position where their initial acquisition costs 
exceed $5,000 for plant and equipment and $100,000 for intangibles. Items costing less than these 
amounts are included as expenses. 

(b) Measurement 

Assets are carried at their acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation/amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. Plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight line basis to allocate 
the net cost of each asset, less its estimated remaining value, equally over its estimated useful life. 

All intangible assets, including purchased and internally generated software, have finite useful lives and 
are amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the expected benefit to QAO.   

The depreciation and amortisation rates are: 

Asset class     Depreciation rate  Basis   Useful life 
Plant and equipment   12.5% to 33.3%  Straight line  3 to 8 years 

  
Intangible assets    Amortisation rate  Basis   Useful life 
Software purchased   20% to 33.3%   Straight line  3 to 5 years 
Software internally generated  20% to 33.3%   Straight line  3 to 5 years 

 
  2020 

$’000 
2019 

$’000 
Depreciation and Amortisation    

Plant and equipment  82 44 

Intangibles        323 301 

Total  405 345 
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8. Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets (continued) 
(c) Impairment  

All plant and equipment and intangible assets are assessed annually for indicators of impairment. If an 
indicator of possible impairment exists, QAO determines the asset’s recoverable amount. Any amount by 
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount is recorded as an impairment loss. 
Impairment losses are recognised immediately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  

  2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

(i) Plant and Equipment    

Plant and equipment    
At cost  971 945 

Accumulated depreciation  (818) (736) 

Total  153 209 
    

Plant and Equipment Reconciliation    

Carrying amount at 1 July   209 28 

Acquisitions  26 225 
Disposals  .. (287) 

Depreciation  (82) (44) 

Accumulated depreciation on disposal  .. 287 

Carrying amount at 30 June   153 209 
    
(ii) Intangible Assets    

Software purchased    
At cost  331 331 

Accumulated amortisation  (272) (206) 

Total  59 125 
Software internally generated    

At cost  1,968 1,968 

Accumulated amortisation  (1,709) (1,452) 

Total  259 516 
Intangible Asset Total  318 641 

    
Intangible Assets Reconciliation    
Carrying amount at 1 July   641 942 
Amortisation  (323) (301) 

Carrying amount at 30 June   318 641 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
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9. Payables and Accruals 
Creditors are recognised on receipt of goods or services ordered and are measured at the agreed purchase 
or contract price including any applicable trade and other discounts when goods and services ordered are 
received. Amounts owing are unsecured and are generally settled on 20-day terms. 

  2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

(a) Payables    
Creditors  1,047 1,140 

GST payable  277 380 

GST input tax receivable  (188) (290) 

 Net GST payable  89 90 

Total  1,136 1,230 

    

(b) Accrued Employee Benefits    
Annual leave levy payable  552 443 

Long service leave levy payable  127 92 

Other employee benefits  36 449 

Total  715 984 

    

Total  1,851 2,214 
 
Other employee benefits include accrued salaries and wages, superannuation, paid parental leave and 
time in lieu.  
 
10. Provision for Lease 

 
Non-Cancellable Operating Lease 
QAO has an arrangement for office accommodation through the Department of Housing and Public 
Works (DHPW). This arrangement was treated as an operating lease as DHPW retained substantially all 
risks and benefits. From 1 July 2019 this does not meet the definition of a lease under AASB16 Leases 
as DHPW has substantive substitution rights. The provision for lease was released as an opening 
balance adjustment to accumulated surplus at 1 July 2019. 
  

  2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

Non-cancellable operating lease  - 17 

Total  .. 17 
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11. Commitments for Expenditure 

  2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

(a) Non-cancellable operating Lease     

Not later than one year  .. 1,464 
Later than one year and not later than five years  .. 2,474 

Total  .. 3,938 

QAO’s arrangement for office accommodation through the Department of Housing and Public Works 
(DHPW) was previously treated as an operating lease. From 1 July 2019 this was no longer a lease under 
AASB16 Leases as DHPW has substantive substitution rights. Refer to Note 1(e). 

At reporting date QAO had no capital expenditure commitments. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
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12. Budgetary Reporting Disclosures  

The QAO’s assessment of major budget variances is in accordance with FRR 5C Budgetary Reporting 
Disclosures. 

(i) Explanation of Major Variances – Statement of Comprehensive Income 

Audit fees Audit fee revenue was $1,584 million below budget. COVID-19 working 
arrangements impacted our ability to travel to our regional clients and 
our ability to deliver all our planned audit work.    

Appropriation QAO received additional funding to support payments related to 
enterprise bargaining outcomes. 

Supplies and services Supplies and services were under budget $1,372 million. In response 
to COVID19 QAO immediately reduced discretionary spending.  This 
included less spend on contract-in resources as our planned audit 
work program reduced in light of- the reduced fees expected. 

Other expenses We spent more on internal audit due to the larger number of reviews 
completed in this financial year. 

(ii) Explanation of Major Variances – Statement of Financial Position 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

This variance relates to less billings raised and paid by audit clients offset 
by reduced discretionary spending due to COVID-19. 

Work in progress This represents audit services performed but not yet billable per agreed 
milestones at end of financial year.  COVID-19 working arrangements 
impacted our own and our clients’ abilities to complete those milestones. 

Receivables COVID-19 impacted our ability to convert work in progress to receivables.  
This was partially offset by a larger annual leave receivable. 

Payables and accrual Payables are higher at year end as the June month end trade creditors 
were paid in the first week of July 2020. 

(iii) Explanation of Major Variances – Statement of Cash Flows 

Audit fees Cash inflow from audit fees was less because less audit work was billed 
in 2019-20. 

Supplies and services Cash outflow on supplies and services was less because we reduced 
discretionary spend in response to COVID-19 working arrangements.  
The largest savings were in travel costs and project spend. 
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13. Financial Instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position on 
agreement of the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.  QAO has the following categories of 
financial instruments: 

(a) Classification 

Financial Assets Notes 2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

    
Cash and cash equivalents (fair value through 
profit or loss) 1 (d) 7,147 7,189 

Work in progress (amortised cost) 6 3,743 3,574 

Receivables (amortised cost) 7 3,451 3,054 

Total  14,341 13,817 

    
Financial Liabilities - Payables and accrued 
employee benefits (amortised cost) 9 1,851 2,214 

(b) Financial Risk Management 

QAO’s activities expose it to credit risk and liquidity risk. Financial risk management is implemented 
pursuant to state government and QAO policies. These policies focus on the financial performance of 
QAO over the medium term.  QAO is predominantly self-funded and sufficient surplus cashflow is 
required to reinvest in the technology required to deliver our services.  QAO aims to record modest 
surpluses over a 2 to 5 year period to allow for this reinvestment.   Primary responsibility for the 
management of financial risk rests with the Executive Management Group, with oversight and monitoring 
by the Audit and Risk Management Committee. 

QAO’s bank account is included in the whole-of-government set-off arrangement managed by 
Queensland Treasury. The overdraft limit of the whole-of-government group is $75 million. The account 
does not earn interest on surplus funds, nor is interest charged on overdrawn funds. Interest earned or 
charged on the aggregate set-off arrangement accrues to the Consolidated Fund of the State.  

(c) Credit Risk Exposure 

QAO may incur financial loss because of another party to a financial instrument failing to discharge their 
obligation.   

The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date is the gross carrying amount of each category of 
recognised financial asset inclusive of any allowance for impairment. 

No collateral is held as security and no credit enhancements relate to the financial assets held by QAO.  

In the current financial and prior financial years there has been nil trade receivable write offs and 
therefore no financial impact of credit risk.  
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13. Financial Instruments (continued) 
(c) Credit Risk Exposure (continued) 

No financial assets had their terms renegotiated to prevent them from being past due or impaired and 
are stated at the carrying amounts as indicated. There were no individually impaired financial assets in 
the current or previous period. 

Ageing of Receivables (not impaired) 
  Overdue  

Receivables Less than 
30 days 30-60 days 61-90 days More than 

90 days Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

2020 3,289 15 68 79 3451 

2019 2,914 34 60 46 3,054 
 
(d) Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk refers to the situation where QAO may encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated 
with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 

QAO ensures it has sufficient funds available to meet financial obligations when they fall due by 
maximising its bank account balance and through an approved corporate card facility with a $200,000 
limit. At year end, $194,407 (2019: $178,101) was available in this facility.  

As at 30 June 2020, QAO’s financial liabilities are all payables and accruals that fall due within 12 
months. 

(e) Fair Value 

The carrying amounts of receivables and payables, which represent the value of the original transactions 
less any allowance for impairment, are consistent with the fair values of these balances. 

14. Reconciliation of Operating Surplus to Net Cash from Operating Activities 
 2020 

$’000 
 2019 

$’000 
Operating Surplus  723  1,596 

 Non-cash items included in operating result: 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 405  345 

Provision for lease ..  (386) 

Provision for leasehold restoration ..  (512) 
Change in assets and liabilities:    

 (Increase) / decrease in work in progress (169)  (2,125) 

 (Increase) / decrease in receivables (396)  1,103 

 (Increase) / decrease in other current assets (216)  (295) 

 Increase / (decrease) in payables and accruals (94)  466 

 Increase in accrued employee benefits (269)  33 

 Increase / (decrease) in GST payable   (136) 

Net Cash from Operating Activities (16)  89 
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CERTIFICATE OF THE QUEENSLAND AUDIT OFFICE 

These general-purpose financial statements have been prepared pursuant to s.62(1) of the Financial 
Accountability Act 2009 (the Act), s.42 of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2019 and 
other prescribed requirements. 

In accordance with s.62(1)(b) of the Act we certify that in our opinion: 

(a) the prescribed requirements for establishing and keeping the accounts have been complied with in all 
material respects 

(b) the financial statements have been drawn up to present a true and fair view, in accordance with 
prescribed accounting standards, of the transactions of the Queensland Audit Office for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2020 and of its financial position as at the end of that year 

(c) these assertions are based on an appropriate system of internal controls and risk management 
processes being effective, in all material respects for financial reporting throughout the reporting period. 

Karen Johnson, FCA 
Assistant Auditor-General and Chief Financial Officer 

19 August 2020 

21 

Brendan Worrall 
Auditor-General 
19 August 2020 
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HALL CHADWICK~, 
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS & BUSINESS ADVISORS I QLD 

level 4 
240 Queen Street 

BRISBANE QLD 4001 

GPO Box 389 
BRISBANE QLD 400 I 

07 3221 2416 P 

hallchadwlckqld.com.au 

Independent Auditor's Report to the Accountable Officer of Queensland Audit Office 

Report on the audit ot the financial report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financia l report of Queensland Audit Office, which comprises the statement of 
financia l position as at 30 June 2020, the statement o f comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financ ial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the certificates g iven by the 
Auditor-Genera l of Queensland and the Chief Financial Officer of Queensland Audit Office. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financia l report: 

(a) g ives a true and fa ir view of the financia l position as a t 30 June 2020 of the Queensland 
Audit Office and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended: 
and 

(b) complies wi th the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial and Performance 
Management standard 2019 and Australian Accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibi lities for the Audit of fhe 
Financial Report section of our report . We are independe nt of the Queens land Audit Office in 
accordance wilh the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards 
Board's APES 11 0 Code of Ethics for Profess ional Accountants "the Code" that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial report in Australia. We have a lso fu lfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 

Information Other than the Financial Report and Auditor's Report Thereon 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
informa tion included in Queensland Audit Office 's a nnual report for the year ended 30 June 2020, 
but does not include the financial report a nd our auditor's report thereon. Our opinion on the 
financial report does not cover the o ther information and accord ingly we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the financia l report, our responsibility is 
to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materia lly 
inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 
be materia lly misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
ma terial misstatement of this other information. we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 
to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer for the Financial Report 

The Accountab le Officer ot the Q ueensland Audit Office is responsible for the preparation of the 
financial report thot gives a true a nd fa ir view in accorda nce wi th Austra lian Accounting Standards, 
and is appropriate to meet the requirements of the Financia l Accountabil ity Act 2009 and the 
Financial and Performance Management Standard 20 19. This responsibility inc ludes such internal 
control as the Accountable Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement. whether due 
to fraud or error. 

Limited Liabil ity by a scheme approved 

under the Profe:ssional Standan:J\ Legis lation 

Nationa l Association ] Hall Chadwick 
Inte rnational A-.-.ociation I Prim i!l Global 

Associations of Independent Firms 
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HALL CHADWICK~, 

In preparing the financial report, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing the ability of the 
Queensland Audit Office to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applic able, matters re lated 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Accountable Officer 
either intends to liquidate the Queensland Audit Office or to cease opera tions, or has no real istic 
alternative but to do so, 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objec tives are to obta in reasonable assurance about whe ther the fina ncial report as a w hole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due lo fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 
inc ludes our opinion. Reasonab le assurance is a high level of assurance, b ut is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards wil l a lways detect a materia l 
missta tement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and ore considered materia l 
if, individua lly or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to inf luence the economic 
decisions o f users taken on the basis of the financial report, 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Austra lian Auditing Standards, we exerc ise professiona l 
judgement and maintain professiona l scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financ ial report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is suffic ient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resu lting from frau d is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentiona l omissions, misrepresenta tions, or the override 
of inlernal con trol. 
Obtain an understanding of internal control re levant to the audit in order to d esign audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Queensland Audi t Office's internal control. 
Eva luate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related d isclosures made by the Accountable Officer. 
Conclude on the ap propriateness of the Accountable Officer's use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a materia l uncerta inty 
exists re lated to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Queensland Aud it 
Office's abili ty to continue as a going concern, If we conc lude tha t a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to d raw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the 
financial report or, if such disc losures are inadequate, to modify our opin ion, Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the dale of our auditor's report. However, future 
events or conditions may ca use the Queensland Audit Office to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 
Evaluate the overall presenta tion, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presenta tion. 

We communicate with the Accountab le Officer regarding. among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit find ings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our aud it. 

• •• 
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• •• 

HALL CHADWICK~, 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

In accordance w ith s.40 of the Auditor-General Act 2009, for the year ended 30 June 2020: 

(a) We have received al l the information and explanations which we have required: and 
(b) In our opinion, the prescribed requiremen ts in re lation to the establishment and keeping 

of accounts have been complied with in a ll material respec ts. 

i/4/i (/.?r:(c~ ,/. 

41.17/, 

Mark Taylor 
Directm 
Hall Chadwick QLD 

Dated at Brisbone this 19th day of August, 2020 . 

• 
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Performance statement 
Queensland Audit Office 
Performance statement 

For the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

 
Contents 

 
Performance comparison—target to actual 
 
Notes to and forming part of the performance statement 
 
 
 

General information 
 
This performance statement covers the Queensland Audit Office (QAO) for the 2019–20 financial 
year.  

QAO is an office established under the Auditor-General Act 2009 to support the Auditor-General in 
providing independent public sector auditing services and reporting. 

The head office and principal place of business is: 

Level 13, 53 Albert Street 
BRISBANE  QLD  4000 

For information relating to QAO’s performance report please call (07) 3149 6000, email 
enquiries@qao.qld.gov.au or visit the QAO’s internet site www.qao.qld.gov.au. 

 

• • •• 

mailto:enquiries@qao.qld.gov.au
http://www.qao.qld.gov.au/
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Queensland Audit Office 
Performance statement 

Year ended 30 June 2020 
 

Performance comparison—actual to target 

 

New measure for 2020–21 
Performance comparison—actual to target 
 

 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these statements. 

Independent public sector auditing Notes Target Actual Variance 

Service: Reports and advice to the parliament     

Effectiveness measures      

Parliament’s overall satisfaction with services (%) 1 80 .. .. .. 

Audit entities’ overall satisfaction with performance 
audit services (ip) 2, 3 80 78 2 unfavourable 

Average time taken to produce reports—results of 
financial audits—from applicable balance dates 
(months) 

5, 6 6 5.3 0.7 favourable 

Average time taken to produce reports—results of 
performance audits—from initiation of audits (months) 5, 7 9 10.9 1.9 unfavourable 

Efficiency measures      

Average cost of reports tabled—results of financial 
audits ($’000) 5, 6 $140.0 $124.6 $15.4 favourable 

Average cost of reports tabled—results of performance 
audits ($’000) 5, 7 $395.0 $453.9 $58.9 unfavourable 

Service: Reports and advice to the public sector     

Effectiveness measures      

Audit entities’ overall satisfaction with financial audit 
services (ip) 2, 4 80 81 1 favourable 

Efficiency measures      

Average cost of financial audits—State entities ($’000) 8 75–90 91.8 1.8 unfavourable 

Average cost of financial audits—Local government 
entities ($’000) 8 65–75 71.8 3.2 favourable 

Independent public sector auditing Notes Target Actual Variance 

Service: Reports and advice to the public sector     

Effectiveness measures      

Audit entities’ overall satisfaction with audit services (ip) 2 80 81 1 favourable 

• •• • 
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Notes to and forming part of the performance statement 
Including the explanation of major variances 

1. We survey members of the Queensland Parliament approximately twice per parliamentary term—
members are not surveyed annually. An independent organisation conducts the survey for us.  
The 2019–20 actual is not provided as the survey was not conducted—the last survey was 
conducted in 2018–19. 

2. We survey our audit clients within the Queensland public sector each year. An independent 
organisation conducts the surveys for us. The results are expressed as ‘index points’ (ip) to more 
accurately describe the result when combining multiple survey factors into a single value or score. 
We have discontinued these two service standards in 2020–21 and merged them together into a 
new effectiveness measure—Audit entities' overall satisfaction with audit services. Our focus for 
the future is to provide our clients with a consistent and seamless QAO experience.  
This new measure has been reported separately for 2019–20. 

3. Our clients’ satisfaction with our performance audits is slightly lower than target. General comments 
about our performance more commonly related to improving auditors’ skills/knowledge and the 
scope of the audit. The result of 78ip is higher than the 75ip in 2018–19 and 72ip in  
2017–18. 

4. Our clients’ satisfaction with financial audit results is slightly higher than target and comparative with 
prior years—80ip in 2018–19 and 81ip in 2017–18. Positive feedback given was about auditors’ 
conduct and skills. Suggestions for improvement included the efficiency of the audit process, 
balance/consistency of reporting and effectiveness of communication/consultation.  

5. We track the full life cycle cost of each report to parliament and the time it takes us to produce the 
report. 

 The timeliness of our reports on the results of financial audits is measured from the financial year 
end date of our clients to the tabling date of the report in parliament. The timeliness of our reports 
on the results of performance audits is measured from the formal initiation of the audit to the tabling 
date. 

 This measure includes the total cost of all the reports we tabled during the 2019–20 financial year. 
The cost of our reports includes internal staff costs and overheads, any consultant costs, and other 
direct costs. We report the estimated final cost within each report. However, actual costs may vary 
slightly from this estimate due to minor work undertaken after tabling. 

6. Overall, our reports on the results of financial audits have been delivered on time and under budget. 
The actual duration and cost for each report are listed below. 

 
Report title Life cycle  

cost 
Duration 
(months) 

Water: 2018–19 results of financial audits $91,838 3.8 

Transport: 2018–19 results of financial audits $79,048 4.2 

Energy: 2018–19 results of financial audits $87,070 4.7 

Health: 2018–19 results of financial audits $130,902 4.9 

Queensland state government entities: 2018–19 results of financial audits $119,183 4.9 

Queensland Government state finances: 2018–19 results of financial audits $75,812 7.4 

Local government entities: 2018–19 results of financial audits $290,413 7.7 

Education: 2018–19 results of financial audits $122,234 4.6 

Total $996,500 42.2 

Average $124,562 5.3 

Target $140,000 6.0 

• • •• 
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The average time taken for financial audit reporting is within our target and an improvement on prior 
years—6.5 months for 2018–19 and 6.7 months for 2017–18. 

The average cost for financial audit reporting is within our target and an improvement on prior 
years—$142,804 for 2018–19 and $140,223 for 2017–18.  

This favourable variance shows the efficiencies achieved from introducing initiatives focusing on 
reports being more concise to meet the needs of our stakeholders. 

7. Overall, our reports on the results of performance audits have been delivered over budget and later 
than expected. The actual duration and cost for each report are listed below. 

Report title Life cycle  
cost 

Duration 
(months) 

Investing in vocational education and training $396,399 10.2 

Managing the sustainability of local government services $452,915 7.8 

Managing cyber security risks $485,968 11.3 

Addressing mine dust lung disease $611,228 12.5 

Effectiveness of the State Penalties Enforcement Registry ICT reform $318,344 9.7 

Managing coal seam gas activities $553,160 12.6 

Evaluating major infrastructure projects $441,524 14.1 

Licensing builders and building trades $371,482 9.1 

Total $3,631,020 87.1 

Average $453,878 10.9 

Target $395,000 9.0 

We tabled eight performance audit reports in 2019–20. This is less reports compared to prior 
years—14 in 2018–19 and 10 in 2017–18. 

The average time taken for reporting is outside our target and unfavourable compared to last year—
8.9 months for 2018–19 and 10.5 months for 2017–18. 

The average cost for reporting is outside our target and unfavourable compared to prior years—
$317,880 for 2018–19 and $347,961 for 2017–18.  

The unfavourable variance is due to most performance audits tabled in 2019–20 being highly 
complex audits, which have a higher cost and take longer to complete. No follow-up audits were 
completed in 2019–20—these audits have a shorter duration and lower cost. Four follow up audits 
were performed in 2018–19. 

8. We track the full life cycle cost of each financial audit for state and local government entities.  
The cost of our audits includes internal staff costs and overheads, contractor costs, and other direct 
costs. This measure is calculated by dividing the full cost of financial audits by the number of audit 
opinions produced. Expressing the target for this measure as a range better reflects the nature of 
audit services and provides better information for understanding QAO’s performance. It is normal for 
the total number of opinions to change marginally each year, which will impact these results. 

 

• •• • 
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A. Reports tabled in parliament 

Number Title 
Tabled in 

Legislative 
Assembly 

Total website 
report views 

1 Investing in vocational education and training 8 August 2019 1,531 

2 Managing the sustainability of local government services 25 September 2019 2,591 

3 Managing cyber security risks 1 October 2019 4,398 

4 Water: 2018–19 results of financial audits 24 October 2019 1,207 

5 Transport: 2018–19 results of financial audits 6 November 2019 973 

6 Energy: 2018–19 results of financial audits 21 November 2019 1,123 

7 Health: 2018–19 results of financial audits 26 November 2019 1,619 

8 Queensland state government entities: 2018–19 results of 
financial audits 

27 November 2019 1,927 

9 Addressing mine dust lung disease 5 December 2019 1,384 

10 Effectiveness of the State Penalties Enforcement Registry 
ICT reform 

6 February 2020 3,583 

11 Queensland Government state finances: 2018–19 results of 
financial audits 

11 February 2020 2,590 

12 Managing coal seam gas activities 18 February 2020 1,758 

13 Local government entities: 2018–19 results of financial audits 20 February 2020 2,830 

14 Evaluating major infrastructure projects 5 May 2020 1,232 

15 Education: 2018–19 results of financial audits 21 May 2020 786 

16 Licensing builders and building trades 23 June 2020 494 

 

The reports are available on our website at www.qao.qld.gov.au/reports-resources/reports-parliament 
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B. Additional information 

This section contains additional information required for annual reporting purposes that is not in the 
main body of this report. It covers: 

• Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 

• workforce planning and performance data 

• record keeping 

• details of the Queensland Audit Office’s Audit and Risk Management Committee. 

Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 
We are a signatory of the whole-of-government code of conduct established under the Public Sector 
Ethics Act 1994. We adhere to the Public Service Code of Conduct 2011 and a code of ethics for 
professional accountants.  

To proactively safeguard and promote ethical conduct, we: 

• undertake pre-employment screening on all contractors and employees, including criminal history 
and reference checks 

• require employees to complete a comprehensive independence declaration, including details to 
help us manage any potential conflicts of interest 

• train new recruits in public sector ethics and the Public Service Code of Conduct 2011, and provide 
refresher training on ethical decision-making 

• operate as an integrity agency and routinely discuss issues of ethics and integrity among our 
workforce and clients. 

Our internal policies, procedures, and practices align with ethical principles and values. Our auditors 
also apply APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants as issued by the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board.  

Workforce planning and performance data 
The Queensland Audit Office takes a strategic planning approach to workforce management, in which 
we focus on capability and capacity. Each year, we review our workforce needs during our business 
planning process. This section provides data on our workforce.  

Workforce numbers at 30 June 2020 

Measure Value 

Minimum Obligatory Human Resource Information (MOHRI)*—effective headcount 205 

Minimum Obligatory Human Resource Information*—effective full-time equivalents 190 

*MOHRI measures are for public service reporting purposes.  

During 2019–20, our separation rate for permanent employees was 12.17 per cent. No redundancy, 
early retirement, or retrenchment packages were paid.  

• • •• 
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The below table provides the Queensland Audit Office’s data on our workforce inclusion and diversity.  

Workforce inclusion and diversity at 30 June 2020 

Measure Value 

Employees who are women 54.1% 

Employees from non-English speaking backgrounds 26.8 % 

Employees with disability 0.5% 

Employees who identify as Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander 0.5% 

Further information on how we manage, develop, and support our people is on page 6 of this report.  

Information systems, security, and record keeping 
Effective record keeping gives us confidence that we have the evidence we need to support our 
decisions and the results of our audit work. During 2019–20, we continued to improve our 
recordkeeping practices by:  

• implementing the principles of the records governance policy   

• increasing our use, and reliance on, born-digital and digitised records to support our business 
activities 

• trialing the disposal of source (paper) records after digitisation, for example, low-risk financial 
records (for example, tax invoices)  

• continuing to develop an information security management system to preserve the confidentiality, 
integrity, and availability of our information assets 

• communicating roles and responsibilities for creating, managing, and disposing of public records in 
our records management policy  

• providing mandatory training to all new staff and mandatory refresher courses to existing staff 
members via an online training platform  

• managing all formats of public records in accordance with our recordkeeping framework.  

• implementing more paper-light office activities to support our activity-based work environment  

• furthering our use of electronic signatures and document approvals. 

We have worked collaboratively with Queensland State Archives to review components of the QAO 
retention and disposal schedule. These changes were endorsed by the State Archivist on 
20 September 2020 and better support our business needs/activities.  
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Audit and Risk Management Committee 
The below table provides the membership details of the Queensland Audit Office’s Audit and Risk 
Management Committee.  

Audit and Risk Management Committee 2019–20  

*All amounts exclude GST and do not include reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses. 

Further information on the functions of the Audit and Risk Management Committee is on page 10 of 
this report.  

QAO Audit Quality sub-committee 
Member Meetings attended Remuneration as per appointment letter pa* 

Russell Banham (Chair) 2 $5,000 

Ian Rodin 2 $4,000 

Rajnish Padarath 2 Nil 

*All amounts exclude GST and do not include reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses. 

 

Member Term Meetings 
attended 

Remuneration as 
per appointment 

letter pa* 

Remuneration paid 
2019–20 including 
indexed inflation* 

Ian Rodin (Chair) Nov 2017– Nov 2020 4 $14,000 $14,240 

Russell Banham Nov 2017– Nov 2020 4 $5,000 $5,160 

Jeff Duthie Sept 2018– Aug 2021  4 $5,000 $5,160 

• • •• 
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C. Fees for audit service providers  

Firms providing 
financial audit services 2019–20* 2018–19* 

KPMG 2,200,641  2,616,382 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu  1,762,317  2,611,677 

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 2,078,446  2,226,015 

Crowe Horwath 1,087,068  1,596,275 

Pitcher Partners 797,081 798,749 

Ernst & Young 732,786 481,936 

Thomas Noble & Russell 693,980  801,989 

William Buck (QLD) 679,716  778,014 

BDO Audit (Nth Qld) Pty Ltd 678,988 557,975           

BDO Audit (Qld) Pty Ltd 665,362 455,634 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 605,685  580,622 

Bentleys Brisbane (Audit) Pty Ltd 330,837 590,414 

PKF Hacketts Audit 275,830  207,952 

Priestleys Chartered Accountants 244,189 189,612 

UHY Haines Norton 221,020 217,385 

Prosperity Advisers Audit Services 197,583  199,832 

Altius Accountants and Advisors Pty Ltd 171,781 453,129 

Bennett Partners Pty Ltd 88,000  163,900 

MGI Assurance (South Qld) Pty Ltd 73,494  70,682 

Vincents Audit & Assurances 44,305  19,421 

Total 13,629,109 15,617,595 

* All amounts represent payments made during the financial year. 
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Firms providing  
Performance audit services 

2019–20* 2018-19 

Workplace Edge Pty Ltd 135, 108 - 

Arc Consultancy  129,991 197,164 

Monash University 46,286 13,531 

Aginic 12,485 - 

Weir Legal and Consulting Pty Ltd 3,916 - 

WSP Australia Pty Ltd 1,256 55,291 

Ernst & Young   - 129,992 

Alcorn Security Group Pty Ltd  - 110,000 

Concept 2 Completion Group Pty Ltd  - 106,288 

Deloitte Risk Advisory Pty Limited  - 96,036 

Jauhien Krykun  -- 74,459 

Crowe Horwath   57,764 

The Trustee for Gaskell Family Trust  - 19,723 

Total 329, 042 860, 248 

* All amounts represent payments made during the financial year. 
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D. Annual report compliance checklist 

Summary of requirement Basis for requirement Annual report 
reference 

Letter of compliance A letter of compliance from the 
accountable officer or statutory 
body to the relevant Minister 

ARRs–section 7 
 

Inside cover 

Accessibility Table of contents 
Glossary 

ARRs–section 9.1 1, 66 

Public availability ARRs–section 9.2 Inside cover 

Interpreter service statement Queensland 
Government Language 
Services Policy 
ARRs–section 9.3 

Inside cover 

Copyright notice Copyright Act 1968 
ARRs–section 9.4 

Inside cover 

Information licensing QGEA–Information 
Licensing 

 ARRs–section 9.5 

Inside cover 

General information Introductory information ARRs–section 10.1 2 – 3  

Machinery of Government 
changes 

ARRs–section 10.2, 31 
and 32 

N/A 

Agency role and main functions ARRs–section 10.2 3 

Operating environment ARRs–section 10.3 2, 4 -5  

Non-financial 
performance 

Government’s objectives for the 
community 

ARRs–section 11.1 N/A 

Other whole-of-government 
plans/specific initiatives 

ARRs–section 11.2 N/A 

Agency objectives and 
performance indicators 

ARRs–section 11.3 11 

Agency service areas, and service 
standards  

ARRs–section 11.4 12-21 

Financial performance Summary of financial performance ARRs–section 12.1 26 

Governance—
management and 
structure 

Organisational structure ARRs–section 13.1 9 

Executive management ARRs–section 13.2 9 

Governance bodies (statutory 
bodies and other entities) 

ARRs–section 13.3 10 

Public Sector Ethics Public Sector Ethics Act 
1994 
ARRs–section 13.4 

57 
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Summary of requirement Basis for requirement Annual report 
reference 

Human Rights Human Rights Act 2019 
ARRs-section 13.5 

8 

Queensland public service values ARRs–section 13.6 5 

Governance—risk 
management and 
accountability  

Risk management ARRs–section 14.1 10 

Audit committee ARRs–section 14.2 10, 59, 

Internal audit ARRs–section 14.3 10  

External security ARRs–section 14.4 10, 17, 25  

Information systems and 
recordkeeping 

ARRs–section 14.5 58 

Governance—human 
resources 

Strategic workforce planning and 
performance 

ARRs–section 15.1 4-5, 11, 25,  

 Early retirement, redundancy and 
retrenchment 

Directive No. 04/18 
Early retirement, 
Redundancy and 
Retrenchment 

ARRs–section 15.2 

57 

Open data Statement advising publication of 
information 

ARRs–section 16 Inside cover 

Consultancies ARRs–section 33.1 Inside cover 

Overseas travel ARRs–section 33.2 Inside cover 

Queensland Language Services 
Policy 

ARRs–section 33.3 Inside cover 

Financial statements Certification of financial 
statements 

FAA–section 62 
FPMS–sections 38, 39 
and 46 
ARRs–section 17.1 

47 

Independent Auditor’s Report FAA–section 62 
FPMS–section 46 
ARRs–section 17.2 

48-50 
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E. Glossary 

Term Meaning 

Audit This is an official examination and verification of accounts and records, especially 
of financial accounts. 

Audit, financial Depending on the audit subject (consolidated fund, public sector agency, 
ministerial expenditure, and whole-of-government financial statements), the 
Auditor-General must give an opinion as to whether public money was recorded, 
managed, and protected properly. Usually this involves auditing the financial 
statements and preparing an audit opinion. 

Audit, performance A performance audit may consider all or any particular activities of a public sector 
entity. It may be conducted as a separate audit or as part of another audit, 
including an audit of another public sector entity. The audit’s object includes 
deciding whether the public sector entity is achieving its objectives economically, 
efficiently, and effectively, and in compliance with all relevant laws. 

Audit opinion An audit opinion will generally address whether the Auditor-General has received 
all the information and explanations the role requires. It will also generally address 
whether the Auditor-General considers the financial statements have been 
properly drawn up and are accurate and compliant with prescribed requirements to 
give a true and fair view of an entity’s financial operations and position. 

Auditor-General In Queensland, the Governor in Council appoints the Auditor-General for a fixed, 
non-renewable term of seven years. 

Auditor-General Act 
2009 

This is the Queensland law that establishes the position of the Queensland 
Auditor-General and the Queensland Audit Office, confers the functions and 
powers necessary to carry out independent audits of the Queensland public sector 
and related entities, provides for the strategic review of the Queensland Audit 
Office, and provides for the independent audit of the Queensland Audit Office 
(published at www.legislation.qld.gov.au).  

Auditor-General of 
Queensland Auditing 
Standards 

These are standards by which the audits of public sector entities are performed. 
They require the adoption of standards issued by the Australian Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board (AUASB) to the extent they are consistent with the 
requirements of the Auditor-General Act 2009.  
The AUASB standards set out the basic principles and essential procedures to be 
applied to ensure that audits are planned and performed in a manner that will 
support the opinion or conclusion expressed by the auditor. 

  

• •• • 
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Suggest a performance audit topic 

  Contribute to a performance audit in progress 

  Subscribe to news and our blog 

  Connect with us on LinkedIn 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
T:   (07) 3149 6000 
E:  qao@qao.qld.gov.au 
W:  qao.qld.gov.au 
53 Albert Street, Brisbane Qld 4000 
PO Box 15396, City East Qld 4002 
 

Queensland 
udit Office 

https://www.qao.qld.gov.au/suggest-new-performance-audit-topic
https://www.qao.qld.gov.au/audits/contribute
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